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No. 1.
Copy of a Letter from the Hon. T. M. Haultaix to His Honor I. E. Featiierstox.

Sir,— Native Secretary's Office, Wellington, 30tli April, 1866.
I have the honor, in the absence of the Native Minister, to transmit for your perusal a copy

of a document bearing the signatures of Henare te Herekau andother Native's which hasbeen forwarded
to the Government. With reference to this, and to letters copies of which have been previously
forwarded to your Honor, and of which I now enclose duplicates, I have to request that you will
furnish the Government with a report of your proceedings as Land Purchase Commissioner in
connection with the purchase of the Manawatu Block.

His HonorDr. Featherston, I have, <&c,
Land Purchase Commissioner. T. M. Haultain".

Enclosure 1 in No. 1.
Copy of a Letter from Hexaee Te Herekau and others, to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Manawatu, Aperira 20, 1866.
Tenei tetahi whenua kua haere nui te ingoa, kei te hokona tautohetia c tctuhi tangata Maori kite

Kawaaatanga, ko Eangitikei te ingoa, ko te main ia a nga tangata c tautohe anakite hoko i taua
whenua, c hopara noa atu ana ki runga kite piwhi whenua o ia tangata o ia tangata, koia nei te takei
raruraru ai te hoko o taua whenua, mehemea c hoko ana aua tangata i o ratou pihi ake, katahi ka
marama ta ratou hoko, ko (o) matou nei whenuakua oti te roherohe to tenei taugata,to tenei tangata,
to ia hapu. to ia hapu, a kite homai moni te Kawanatanga mo tenei whenua, ekore o matou ringa c pa
atu ki aua moni, ka tahuri ano matou kite pupuru i tona pihi whenua, tenei tangata, tenei tangata.

Heoti ano.
Na HenereTe Herekau, Na Moroati Kaharoa,„ Hare Hem Taharape, „ Nerehana te Whare.

~ Te Naera tc Hau,
Xi te Minita mo nga mahi Maori.

[translation.]
Manawatu, 20th April, 1863.

There is a block of land, the name of which has been brought into notice, which some Natives
were striving to sell to the Government. Bangitikci is the name of the land. The proceedings of
thesepeople who urge for the teale of it are unauthorized asregards each man's piece ofland. This is
the cause of the confusion about the sale of that land. If these people were sellingtheir o-wn land,
the sale of it would be clear. Our lands have been marked off for this man and for that man, for this
section and for that section ; and should money be given for this land by the Government, our hands
will not touch that money. We shall each of us hold on to our individual pieces of land. That is all

From Henere te Herekau, From Te Moroati Kiharoa,
„ Hare Hemi Taharape, „ Nerehana te Whare.„ Naera te Hau,

To" the Minister for Native Affairs.

Enclosure 2 in No. 1.
Copy of a Letter from Aperahama Te Huruiiuru and others, to Major Edwards.

Xi a Te Erueti Kai-Wiiakawa tuturu,— Eangitikei. Pepuere 25, 1866.
E hoa, mau c tuku atu ta matou kupu ki Poneke ki a Te Eatana, ma Te Eatana c tuku atu ki

te Eunanga Nui o Poneke, kia puritia atu a Te Petatone, kaua c tukua maikite whakararuraru ia
matou ko tenei kahore matou c pai ki to hoko i Eangitikei, he kupu tuturu tenei na te iwi katoa.

Na Aperahama te Huruhuru, x Na Timoti,„ Nepia Taratoa, „ Parakipane,„ AViriharai te Angiangi, x „ Pekamu,
„ Te Mihana, x „ Terea,
„ Porokoru, x „ Topongahuru, x„ Hare Eeweti, „ Eawiri, x
„ Katene, . „ Hakaraia,„ Pataropa, „ Pita,
„ Te Keremihana, „ Pera, x
„ Wereta, „ Pateriki,„ Matiaha, x „ Kcpa,„ Mahi, x „ Tahana,
„ Te Eoera, „ Te Otimi,

3

FURTHER PAPERS RELATIVE TO THE MANAWATU BLOCK.



A.—No. 4.

Na Te Matenga, x Na Tarikama,„ Parao, x „ Hamapiri,„ Bama, x „ Himiona,„ Takana, ' „ Pumipi,
„ Hoeta, , „ Hopa,
„ Tc Karehana, „ Eruini,„ Hitana, „ Teni,

~ Mfttiu, „ Eimini,
„ Te Koro, „ Hiriwetere,„ Epiha, x „ Makerini,
„ Te Wetini, x „ Paramena,
„ Te Waka, „ Te Peina Taliapara, x
„ Hone tc Tihi, x „ Eiahana te Potaua, x
„ Moihi Tarapuhi, „ Eewi Karaka,„ Marino, „ Hare Perc,„ Kapita, „ Herikuiha. x

[translation.]
Fhikxd,— Eangitikci, 25th February, 18G6.

You will send our word (request) to Port Nicholson, to Mr. Eussell, and Mr. Eussell will
forward it to the Runanga of Port Nicholson, to withhold Mr. Featherston. Do not allow him to
come and disturb us, as wo do not (now) intend to sell Eangitikei; this is the decided word
(expression) of the whole tribe.

(Here follow the signatures.)
Mr. Edwards, Resident Magistrate.

Enclosure 3 in No. 1.
Copy of a Letter from Hunta Hakeke and others to the Honourable the Pusaoxß.

Xi a Tahapata t/poko Euxaxoa,— Turakina, Maehe 23, 1860.
E hoa, tenakoc, c hoa he vi ritenga atu tenei ki akoe, na matou ko toku iwi ko Ngatiapa,kei

te kimi noa iho o matouwhakaaro kite tv o te maina Takuta Petetone, c mahi nei i to matou whenua
i Bangitikei, ka nui to matou pouri, kahore hold i te marama, ia matou tona tikanga, hekimi haere nei
ia i te tikanga a tetahi iwi ke atu, kahore nei o ratou putaketanga ki runga ki to matou whenua, na
matou ano i hoatu te whenuaki a ia,nana hoki i haere mai kite peni i tc whawhai a Xgatiapa rauako
Ngatiraukawa, hoatu ana c matou te pu maungarongo ki tonaringaringa, ki atu ana matou, kia raua
ko te Kawana te whenua, me hoko mai kia matou,kei a matou tc whakaaro ki etahi iwi atu, ka ki mai
ia c pai ana; ka ki atu matou ita matou tino kupu ki a ia. "Xi te whakarongo koo kite reo o
Ngatiraukawa, ara o lhakara i muri iho o teneihoatutanga kia koo, ko te tupu ano tenci raruraru;"
kahore enei laipu i huna ki aiai tc timatanga otekorcro ote whenua kia ia. I roto i tenei tau hove
hipa ana matou i te whawhai ki Patea, c tukuna ana c ia tetahi pukapuka whakaae kia tangohia c
lhakara tetahi £100 pauna o Eangitikei, o te whenua ano hoki o te raruraru, i whakaae pono matou
ki nga monio ngareti ki a ia tiaki ai, arakia te Petatone, ki ana mai ia, ac, manac tiaki ekore ia c hoatu
ki tetahi tangata ke, i naianei kua lie tanakupu, kahore o matou kanohi ikite itaua tukunga moni, no
konei matou ka whakaaro, akuanei mau tonu ai te mamingao te Petatone ia matou, me tanakaranga
Eunanga puta ke ki Manawatu, i naianei c te runanga o Poneke, kua kore matou 6 whakarongo ki
tana tikanga. Kaputake koia te mahi aPetatone mepehea koia matou? Me whakahe ano matouki
te tikanga c puta ke ana, no konei matou ka whakaatu kiteEunanga pakeha. Ko te Petatone pea c
maminga nei ia matou, ko te JCai-whakamaori pea. E hoa ma ehara ite whakaaro iti to matou
whakaaro pakeke ki to matou whenua ake, he nui noaatu, ki ana mai a te Petatone, manac tiaki, mana
c 1 iaki, no reira matou ka whakaae, ko tenei ritenga kei te tinihangatia matou, ko te puta ano he
raruraru mo matou mo nga Maori, kite he ake matou c pai ana. c ho ana ko to matou whenua, kite
pokanoa hoki tetahi tangataki rungakite whenua Pakeha ka tupu ano teraruraru.

E hoa c Tarapata me ton runanga, kei te mohio koutou, kua kite tuturu koutou i te whenuao
Ngatiraukawa i Mauugatautari, kua tuku panui ratou, kia tino mohio ai koutou nga Pakehako to
ratou whenua ten, ki (c he mai i a koe me tou Eunanga nga korero o to matou pukapuka tuhituhia
mai tetahi tikanga marama, me haeremai etahi o koutou ki Whanganui neikorero tahi aitatou, ko te
Petetone, kia kimihia tona lie. Heoi ano tena rakoutou.

Na Hunia Hakeke, Na Hamuera,„ Mold Mahi, „ Eatana Ngahina,„ Wiremu Mokomoko, „ Matene te Matuku.

[tbanslatiojj.]
To Me. Stafi-okd, PbXMXEB,— Turakina, 23rd March, 1866.

Friend, salutations ! Friend, this is a question to you from us and our tribe Ngatiapa. We
arc vainly endeavouring to understand the object of Dr. Featherston's proceedings relative to our land
at Bangitikei We arc very sad because we do not understand what he is about. He goes about
inquiring the sentiments of a stranger tribe, who have no claim whatever to our land. We gavehim
tlu' land when he came to prevent hostilities between the Ngatiapas and Ngatiraukawas. We placed
the gun of peace in his hand, and told him and the Governor to buy the land from us, and that we
wouldarrange with the other tribes. He replied it is well. We then told him our decision. If you
listen to the voice of Ngatiraukawa, viz., to Jhakaia,after this concession to you, trouble will spring
up. This warning was not concealed from him at the commencement of the talk about the land.
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Since the new year set in we have not taken any part in the hostilities at Patea. He has sent a
letter agreeing to give Ihakaia £100 on account of Rangitikei, the land now disputed.

We truly agreed to leave the rents in Dr. Featherston's hands to take care of. He said he would
take care of them, and not give them to strangers, Now his word has proved incorrect. Our eyes did
not see this moneypayment, therefore we think that in a short time Dr. Peatherston's deceit towards
us will be manifest. He called a meeting at Manawatu.

Now, O the Assembly at Port Nicholson !we will not listen to anything he has to say. When
Dr. Featherston's actions take a different turn, what are we to do ? We will condemn his
strange proceedings. We therefore make known to the European Assembly that we are eitherbeing
deceived by Dr. Feathcrston or by his interpreter.

Friends ! our hard thoughts about our lands are not of a trivial nature. They arevery great.
Featherston has said that he will take care of them. For this reason we consider that the present
proceedings are intended to deceive us, and will be productive of trouble amongst us Natives. If we
gowrong it will be well; we shall go wrong in our land. If a man acts without authority on
European land, trouble arises.

Friend Mr. Stafford, and your colleagues, you know (because) you have distinctly seen that the
landof the Ngatiraukawaa is at Maungatautari. They have sent in their claims. Let the Europeans
clearly understand that (Maungatautari) is their land.

Should you and your colleagues disapprove of our letter, write some clear suggestions to us, and
let one of your colleagues come to Whanganui, in order thatwe andDr. Featherston may talk together
and search for his fault.

Enough ; salutations to you all, from
Hunia Hakeke, Hamuera,
Mohi Mahi, Eatana Ngahina,
Wiremu Mokoinoko, Matene te Matuku.

No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from the Hon. the Native Minister to His Honor I. E. Feathekstox.

Sik,->- Native Secretary's Office, Wellington, 3rd May, 1866.
In reference to my letterof the 30th ultimo, requesting you to furnish the Government with

areport of your proceedings as Land Purchase Commissioner in connection with the purchase of the
Manawatu Block, I have the honor to forward for your guidance an extract from a Memorandum in
this office respecting outstanding land purchases, and to request that the points adverted to in it may
receive your special attention.

I forward at the same time copies of letters as per margin, which have been received by the
Government subsequently to the date of my last letter ; also, copies of the following documents which
have appeared in the public prints, relating to the same subject:—■

1. I/(-it ci- to Mr. FitzG-erald, of2nd February, from Hui Kerei and others.
2. Letter addressed to the Assembly by Parakaia Te Ponepa and H. Herekau.
3. Two documents, one signed by H. Herekau and H. H. Taharape, and one signed by Parakaia

Pouepa, Matene Te Whiwhi, and others, both of which were published in the Press newspaper,
27th April, 1866.

I have, &c,
T. M. Haultatx,

TTin Honor Dr. Featherston, Wellington. (In the absence of the Native Minister.)

Enclosure 1 in No. 2.
Substance of an Extract from a Memorandum respecting Land Purchases.

Ik all cases of outstanding land purchases beyond the payment of such instalments as may be
actually and immediately due, no further action should be taken until the officer to whomthe duty of
completing them may be or may haye been entrusted shall have forwardedto the Governor through the
Native Minister, a Report, showing :—1. That he has duly investigated the Native claims to landwithin the block in question.

2. That such investigation has taken place after due publicity.
3. That by such investigation he has ascertained that the title to the block in question vests in

such persons (if such tribesas are named in his Report.
4. That the area and the price agreed to be paid and received in full for such blocks areaccurately

defined and laid down, as well as thenumber and amount of the instalments in which the same is to be
paid, and the dates on which they are due.

5. That the persons to be named in his Report are those to whom it has been agreedby all known
claimants that payment shall be made on their behalf.

Enclosure 2 in No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Mr. Mantell to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Sid— ' Wellington, Ist May, 1866.
I have the honor to enclose, for your information, a letter from Tamihana Te Eauparaha, on

the Manawatu Block.
Tiie portion whichI have underlined appears to me worthy of your attention, as indicating that

the most important part of the negotiations for the purchase of that disputed Block, namely, the
2
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ascertainment and assessment of the proportionate interest of the contending tribes, is still
unaccomplished, or at least has not beeu communicated to the Natives, or received their assent.

As 1 still desire to take no step in respect of this vexed question without the knowledge of the
Government, I shall do myself the honour of forwarding to you a copy of my answer to Eauparaha.

I have, &c,
The Hon. the Native Minister, &c. W. B. D. Maxtell.

Sub-Enclosure to Enclosure No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Tajiihaxa te Batjpabaha to Mr. Maxtell.

Ngawhakangutu Vahi o Otaki,
E hoa E Mat.vka,— Aperira 23, it i6,

Tena koe, i tae aukite hui iManawatu a Ngatiraukawa, a tera ki Manawatu—huihui katoa
maia Ngatiraukawa ki te K.upapa, me c tahi o Ngatiraukawa kite Kingi, ki te Hauhau; rupeke katoa
atu hoki matou a Ngatitoa, me etahi o Ngatiawa, a Muaupoko, a Bangitane, a Ngatiapa, me etahi o
Whanganui.

No te 3 o Aperira, 18G6,ka rupeke katoa kite kainga i noho ai te hui, kite Takapu wahi o
Manawatu, no te 5 o Aperira ka timata te korero mo Bangitikei kia hokona atu kei Avaiho hei take
raruraru mo tenei Mokoa ki Eangitikeiki Poneke. a he nui nga korero, ko etahi c ki ana me rnri me
whakawa, ko etahi c ki ana me pupuri tonu hei mana mo nga tangata Maori, ka riro tc hoko tana
Kainga ka ngaro te iwi Maori, he nui noa atu nga korero, kaore c ata marama.

No te 14 o Aperira, IS6O,ka whakaotianga korero ki runga ki te tuku whenua, me te whakaae
mai hoki o Takuta Petatone ki runga i nga kupu a matou a nga kai tuku atu i Bangitikei kia Takuta
Petatonc, ko te nuinga hoki o nga tangata me nga iwi o nga hapu i tenei tahakite tuku whenua, ko
tetahi taiia o Ngatiraukawa ko enci i whakaae nei kite Kingi ki te Hauhau,ko era nga mea itc pupuri
i Eangitikeikia man kei ngaro to ratou manai te taha Pakeha Kuini hoki.

Na wliakariteaana nga utu, ko etahi i ki, kia rua hereni mo te onepu, kia rima hereni mo nga
repo, kia kotahi pauna mo te wahi pai. Kaore ipaingia itenui rawao enei utu, karangatia ano c etahi
atu, kia £50,000 karangatia c etahi kia 60,000 kihai i whakaetia c Takuta. Ka karair. i 640,000,
kaore i pad, ka karangatia ano kia 81,000, katahi ka ngawari, otira ka tohea ano c nga tangatakite
£60,000. Katahi ka whakaaetia c Takuta Petatone ki nga mano pauna £25,000,ka whakaae katoa atu
matou katoa, ara nga iwi pai kite tuku atu i Bangitikei kia hokona atu. Te take i hokona atu ai ki
era utu, he whenua raruraru, me kaua te raruraru o tana whenua ekore c hokona atu,ki te kite koe i
etahi pukapuka. (a) etahio Ngatiraukawa c tuhi atu ana ki te Eawanatanga mo taua whenua, kaua c
wliakaaroa mai, c rua nga arero o ana tangata, he haraau i tuhituhiai kia koe, kua korero taua ki taua
Kainga.

Ko nga moni anake tenei kei lc whakaarohiac au kia tuhiatu au kia Takutakia marama te whakahaere
ki nga hvi o Ngatiraukawa, kia nui ano nga iici o Ngatiraukawa, ka koa au meka tuhi mahi koe ki au.
E pai ana te nronga o Eangitikei ki taku whakaaro, hei whakanui i te Pakeha ki roto o Manawatu, hei
whakarangatira mo nga tangataMaori, kia tupu ake ai te pai ki nga iwi erua,kite Pakeha kitetangata
Maori hoki.

Naku na to hoa aroha,
Kia Matara, kei Poneke. Na TaMXHANA Te Eavpakaiia.

[teaxslatiox.]
Fbiexd Mh. Maktell,— Ngawhakungutu "Wahi, Otaki, 25th April, 1566.

Tena koe. 1 attendedthe meetingat Manawatu of Ngatiraukawa Those livingat Manawatu,
all Ngatirakawa, gathered together the friendly Natives who supported the King and the Han Hans.
All Ngatitoa assembled, some of Ngatiawa, of Muaupoko, of Bangitane, of Ngatiapa, and some of
Whanganui.

On the 3rd of April, 18G6,we all assembled at the village! where the meeting was held at tin
Takapu, a place at Manawatu,

On the sth of April the talk about Bangitikei commenced. (It was proposed) to sell it, lest it
should remain a source of trouble for this district, at Bangitikei, and at Port Nicholson. There was a
great deal oftalking. Some said, " Let it be surveyed and investigated ;" others said, "Let it be held as
before for the purpose of maintaining thepower (authority or influence) of the Natives ; if that settle-
ment is sold, the Maori tribes will be lost." There was a great deal of talking which was not quite
clear.

On the 14th of April, 1866, the discussion was brought to a close by agreeing to let the land go,
and by Dr. Featherston agreeing to the word of the sellers at Eangitikei. The majority of the people
and the tribes and the sections on this side were for selling the land. Some of Ngatiraukawa, those
who supportKingism and Han Hauism, are the things (mea) in favour ofretaining Eangitikei, to hold
it fast lest their power should be lost by thePakeha side ami the Queen's side. The payment was then
talked over. Some said, " Let it be two shillings for the sand, five shillings for the swamps, and one
pound for the good places. Tiiis was mil liked on account of the very high rate. Some other person
called out, "Let it be £50,000;" anothercalledout "£60,000." Dr. Peatherstondid not agree. £10,000
was then asked, but it was not approved ; £21,000 was then asked, then for the first time it was easy,
but some of the people urged for £60,000. At last Dr. Peatherston agreedto give £25,000, and we all
agreed,viz., the people in favour of selling Eangitikei. The reason why it was sold for that money is
because it is disputed territory ; if it were not disputed, it wouldnot be sold.

If you should see some letters written by Ngatiraukawa to the Government about that land, do
not give" them any attention. Those people have two tongues. I did not write to you because we
have talked togetherabout that'place. I am now only thinking of the money, and of writing to Dr.
Eeatherston to be clear in settling withthe Ngai iraukawatribe. Let them have a large portion of the
money. I shall be glad if you will writeto me. The sale of Bangitikei was satisfactory to my mind.
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It will increase the number of the Pakehas in Manawatu. will ennoble the Natives, and cause goodwill
to spring up between the two races, the Pakehas and the Maoris.

From your dearfr:
Tamihana Te Rattpabaha.

Enclosure 3 in No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Pabakata Te Pouepa to Mr. Rollestov

Xi a Te Bobetana,— Otaki, 30 Aperira, IS6G.
Tena koe. E hoa, kit haere atu dga tangata pupuri o Bangitikei ki Poneke, kite kawe atu i

to ratou pouri mo te kupu a Te Pura kia lioatute moni utu o Eangitikei ki nga iwi o tawhiti ke, ko te
kupu a nga tangatatuturu,kaore e'paikia hoko i to ratou wahi, c mea ana ta ratou kupu ahakoakahore
Kawana i Poneke, ko ona hoa hei taenga atu mo ratou, ko Matara, ko Te Batana, me nga Bangfttira o
Poneke hei whakaputanga mo aratou korero, kia rctngo koutou i aratou kupu i korero ai ki a Te
Petatone i ngara o Aperira 18, 11, ISGG. Ka haere atu hoki ahau ki te whakarongo.

Heoi ano na to hoa,
Xi a Te Eoretana. Na Pabakaia Te Pouepa.

[translation.]
To Mn. Rolleston— Otaki, 30th April, ISG6.

Salutations. Friend, the peo])le opposed to the sale of Eangitikei are going to Wellington to
make known their grief on account of Mr. Buller"s intention to give the purchase money for Eangitikei
to the tribes of distant places. The word of theresident Natives is not favourable to the sale of their
places. They say although the Governor is not in Wellington, his friends (can be seen) on their
arrival (viz.) Mr. Mantel], Colonel Russell, and the gentlemen of "Wellington, who will give thema
hearing. Do you all hearken to their word to Dr. Feathcrston on the 13th and 11th of April, 1866.
Iam also going to listen., Sufficient from your friend,

To Mr. Eolleston. Pabakaia Te Poi !

Enclosure 4 in No. 2.
Babe Hemi Taiiabape to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Xi a Te Batana,— Manawatu,Aperira 18, ISGG.
Ko taku whakahe tcnei mo tc mahi a nga kai hoko whenua o Eangitikei, i horapa noa mai

nei ki runga lei toku pihi whenua, koia tcneika whakaaturia c au toku rohe.
Ka timata i Paranui, rere tonu ki Paepae, rere i waengauuio Kaikokopu, o Koputaara, lea put*

atu ki te tai, kite pitirere tonu ite takutai moana, ka tae atu ki Ivaiiwi, ka tutuki atu kite rohe ate
Kuini ka hoki ki uta c rere ana i runga i te rohe a te Kuini—te Hawera, o Marupapako, kei uta atu
o Marupapako, ka whati, ka rere tonu Totara, ka tutuki atu ki ta Parakaia ma rohe, rere tonu ka
tutuki atu ano ki Paranui, ka mutu, ekore an c tango i te moni a Te Petatone c lea homai noa lei runga
ki toku whenua.

Heoti ano.
Na Hare Hejii Taiiakapa.

[tbanblatiok.]
To Colonel Russell,— Manawatu, 18th April, ISGG.

This is my protest against the proceedings of the sellers of Eangitikei, who have settled <;n

my piece of land without authority. This is it. 1 will explain my boundary.
It commences at Paranui, then goes on to Paepae, running between Kaikokopu and Koputaara

till it comes out to the sea beach. Then it goes along the sea coast tillit reaches Kai Iwi,and joins the
boundary of the land of the Queen. Then it goes inland along the line of the Queen's boundary to
Hawera o Marupapako inland of Marupapako, then it descends andruns on to Totara, where it meets
the boundary of Parakaia and Ins people, and goes on until it reaches Paranui, where it terminates.

I will not take Dr. Fep.therston's money if offered by him of his own accord for my land.
Sufficient.

From Ha uk Heki Taiiabape.

Enclosure 5 in No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Hubi: te Hiaeo and others, to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Puketotara, Aperira 28,18GG.
Xi a Te Eahere Minita o nga tangata Maori, puta noa ki tonaRunanga kei Poneke.
E hoa ma, Tenara koutou, te noho mam a i roto ito aroha noa o tatuu Ar-i-ki o Ihu Karaiti.
15 hoa kua rongo matou, kua tae atu te pukapuka a Henare te Herekau, a Hori te AYaharoa me to

r.iua fiunanga kia Te Wnititera, mo to matou whenua i Manawatu. eke noa ki te iwi-roa ote Ika-a-
Mkui araki tetaukaka o Tararua huri noa ki roto ki Mongohao, ara kite Awahauiti-a-Tane—meliemea
lie tika tc pukapuka a aua tangatai tukuna atu na kia Te Wlutitera kia tukuna atu ki Ingarangi c he
ana, ko tenei whenua no matou no vga iwi c rua, no Rangitane, no Muaupoko, otira ma matou ano c
xta whakamarama atu nga tangata o Ngatiraukawa iuru ki roto ki te hawho iti rawa oto matou
ktinga.

Ko Hona to Purangi, x„ Ranreti Ngawhena, x„ Tc Aomare te Puna, x
~ Takerei te Nawe, x
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Ileoi ano o a matou i mohio ai, tcna ko te nui o te tangata kaore matou i te mohio, ko a ratou.
rohe i tuhituhia atu na ki a ratou pukapuka c he ana tena ianakei te roanga o ta matou tautolie katahi
koc ka mohiokite tika o ta matou.

E hoa, me tuku atu c koe o a matou korero kia taia Ici to reo Maori, kite reo Pakeha, tukua atu.
hold kite Paremata o Ingarangi, kia kite hold o matou hoa Pakeha.

Heoi auo. Na matou na on hoa aroha.
Na Hutu te Hiaro. Na Meihana te Eangi, x
„ Te Warena Mahuri. „ Hekonaiaha Paeroa, x„ Wiremu Waka te Eangi. „ Euka te Ihukino, x„ Hirawanu Kaimokopuna, x „ Haimona Pakura, x„ Patoromu te Pakake, x „ Poitete tc Ecu, x„ Nikaera te Eou, x „ Hamahona Mutuahi, x„ AVirihann Kawhena, x „ Eenata Hiha, x
~ Karanama to fia, x „ Pauro te Eipo, x„ Wi Taukau, x „ Heta Paro, x„ Horomona Paro, x „ Maika Whariki, x„ Hemi Takii, x „ Horima Mutuahi, x„ A\rnitere Kakerua, x „ Bota Moea, x„ A\retere Taeore, x „ Hare te Awcawc, x
„ Eangimairehau, x „ Hauita te Aweawe, x„ Timoti te Maewaa, x „ Te Teira te Panau, x
„ Hohepa Paewai, x „ Hemara te Whitu, x„ Taitului. I „ Kerei te Panau, x„ Hoera Takapari, x „ Tutere Tiweta, x„ Ihaka tc Bangimauriora,x „ Matiu te Kotai, x
„ Aperahama Pororua, I „ Hoaui Puihi, x„ Karauria, x „ Noa te Whata, x„ Nireaha Euanuku, x „ Hanita Takiari, x„ Pine Tawake, x „ Tanirau Maru, X

~ Horima Mahai. x „ IhaiaTaueki, x„ Taimona Turake, x „ Hetariki Matao,x
„ Eeihana Takawa, x „ Wi Mahuri, x„ HimionaTakawa, x „ Harawira te Matai, x
„ Manahi Paewai, X

Naku na to koutou hoa pononga,
Na Te Peeti Te Aweawe.

[tbaxslatiox.]
Pukototaru, 28th April, 18GC.

To Colonel Bussem, Native Minister, even to his colleagues at Port Nicholson,—
Friends, salutations to you all living yonder in the love ofour Lord Jesus Christ.

Friends, we have heard that a letter has been sent by Hcnare te Hcrekau, Hori te Waharoa, and
their Runnnga, to Mr. Fitz Gerald, about our land at Manawatu as far as theback-bone of the Northern
[gland, (Te lka a Maui,) that is to say to the ridge of Tararua, then turning and entering Mongohao,
viz., the Eiver Hau iti a Taane. ;;/;.>■!"!

Ifit is true that these people have written to Mr. FitzGerald, andrequested him to forward their
letters to England, it is wrong: this landbelongs to us, to two tribes, Eangitane and Muauapoko ; but
we will make known to you the names of the Ngatiraukawas who have claims to a very small portion
of our settlement:—■

Ko Hona te Purangi, x .
Ko Eaureti nga AVhena, x
Ko te Aomare Te Puna, x
Ko TaKerei te Nawc. x

Them v.re all we know of; as to the bulk of the people, we do not know them. The boundaries named
in their letterare wrong ;we shall see: during the discussion you willfind out thatwe are in the right

Friends, do you publish our statement in Maori and English, and send it to the Parliament of
England, in order that our English friends may see it.

That is all from us your affectionate friends.
(here follow the signatures.)

From your friend and servant,
Te Peeti Te Aweawe.

Enclosure 6 in No. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Hori Keeei Te "Wauaeoa to Mr. FitzGehaid.

To Me. FitzGekald,— Manawatu, 2nd February, 1860.
Wo have something which we wish to say to you relating to the Manawatu country. We

will first describe to you the boundaries, thatyou may understand the extent of the land. Begin at
the Maire, which is in the direction of Tararua; straight on are Otauria Opapa Teminone, Te me o
Wanake, Paiwaka, Marumaru, Aputuate Otiuhu, on to the saddle of Tararua, descending to Mongohai
straight on along the road of Arawaru, then ascending Tararua in the way ofreturn to Manawatu till
3"ou come to Arawaru ; there you meet the boundary of the land sold by Hirawau to the Queen ; you
go along the boundary of the Queen's landtill you come to Mangawharawhara, thence to Mukuremu;
along the course of the Manawatu Eiver lies Parikawau, Tekopiro, Titiahu, Mangamahoe, Te Papanua,
Hikaritu, Tokomaru ; hence you arrive again at the Maire, the starting point. The following large
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mountains are within theboundary :—AVhakaorugianga Titupaki, Kiru Hai, Tauinata Whara, "Whara
Taumata, Ilouhou, the Pohatu Mount .Arake Paki Tamara. All the country herein describedwe hold
fast. We arc not disposedto allow any one to intrude himselfhere wit han attempt to purchase it.
Be you full v informedthat the men who are ofa mind to sell hind within the above boundary, are
Haru Tehiau, "Warenu Mahuru, from Ran gitikei both of them. If these men make their appearance
before the Government to obtainmoney in payment for our land, do not, on any account, let them have
it, lest it become a root ofevil for us. Beware, ye of the Government. Don't say that we have not
made known the evil to you. This is all.

Heoti ano.
Na Hori Kerei to Waharoa, Na To "Wirihana To Ahuta,„ Takerei te, „ Nopera To Herekau,

~ Nera Puratahi, „ Taipo,

~ HenareTe Herekau, ~ Kerenama Nga Whaka,„ Te Aomarere Te Puna, „ Teteira NgaParoa,„ Epiha Te Rimuhui, „ Te Waka Tukuharc,„ Nelson Te AVhare, „ Iharaira Pikitia,„ Arapere Tukuhare, „ Karauria te Karangapa,„ MaraawatiKiharoa, „ Te Ilira Ruatoi,„ Hoani Te Puna, „ Na Panata Haereora,
„ Te Kemara Ahitara, , „ Arama Haereiora,„ HahapaTe TJmu, ~ Arapata Whanga,„ ParamenaPehitane, „ " Mira Tuhera,„ Kirihipu Te Pua, „ Akatohe Tututahi.

Hasten to print this letter in the newspapers, that all the Pakehas and Maoris may see it.

Enclosure 7 in Ko. 2.
Copy of a Letter from Paeakaia Te Pouepa and others, to the Assembly.

Xi n: Runanga,— Manawatu, Aperira 14, 18G6.
X o tekupu pupuri tena i ki nui atu ai kia Te Petatone, te tuatahi, ko tenei tahao Bangitikei

ipuritia c ail i te nngarmga o Kawana Kerei, o Te Makarini, ara o Ngatiapa, a whakaotiaatu c au ko
tera taha, ki tera Kawana, muri iho, ko Kawana Paraone, ka tohb ano ki Rangitikei, ki Manawatu,
whakaaetia ana c au ko te Awahou, ko te Ahuoturanga, kua rite nga hiahia o nga iwi nei, ki tenei
Kawana, ki tera Kawana, kua mutu te hiahia hoko whenua ki a Tc Ivuini,ko toku manawa tenei c tohea
nei c koe, he pupuri anakc te kupu c maunei, kaore c pai kia hoatu tenei wahi iti kia koe, ko tc kupu
tonu tena a Ngatiraukawakia Te Petatone i te rima o Aperira.

Ko to tuatoru o nga kupu, ma te Kooti whakawa anako ka marama ai tenei whenua,
ko tenei te mca c taria nei c maton, no te tekau ma wha o nga ra ka Jltua c Te Petatone, i
marama ano ana kupu korero ki nga iwi c wha, ko tana whakataunga i tc ho kia matou,he kupu hou,
c warn rau o Wlianganui, c rua rau o Ngatiapa, ko Rangitanc, ko Muaupoko,kotahi rau, ko koutou c
Ngatiraukawa lie hawhe, he iti, tctahikupu aTe Potatone,i haere tahi matou ko enei iwikite whawhai
ki nga iwi tutu i runga i te mana o Te Kuini, kua whakaae ratou mo lioko,kua pai au ki ta ratou, kei
takuringa tenei whenua c man ana, na, whakahengiaana c matou ana kupu, "he muru Maori tau i to
matou wnenua, kaore nga waru rau o Whangauui i tenei hui, ka whakahua kau koe i te kupu taurangi
hei whakawehiwehi," ka mea ia, lieoi ano kua oti, ka hoatu cau tc moni kite tuku whenua,ka ki atu
matou, " ka lie, ka puritia o ;;u toku ake whenua. ekore au c tangoi te moni," penei tonu tekupu a nga
tangatakatoa.

Na Ngatiraukawa, Na Ngatikauwhata,„ Ngatiwhakatere, „ Te Mateawa,„ Ngatihuia, „ Ngatipikiahu,„ Ngatiparewahawaha, „ Ngatikahoro,„ Ngatiterangi, „ Ngatirakau.„ Ngatituranga,
Parakaia te Pouepa.
Hencrc te Herekau.

[teaxslatiox.]
To the Assembly,— Manawatu. litliApril, 1866.

That was thewordto hold fast that I spoke positively to Feathorston from thefirst, i.e. this side
of Kangitikei. I held back from the hand of Governor Grey, from McLean, and of Ngatiapa, but I
finished (sold out) the other side to that Governor. After this came Governor Browne, who also wanted
Bangitikei and Manawatu. I consented to the Awahou and the Ahuoturanga, and the wish of the
people was fulfilled towards that Governor and this. 1 have ended the desire to sell land to the Queen.
This is my heart, which you are now Urging me to give you, but to hold it fast is the only word
remaining. lam not willing to give this -small piece to you. Thiswas theonlyword of Ngatiraukawa
to Featherston on the sth of April; the third word was, let the court of judgment decide. This is the
only way To make this land light, and this is the thing for which we wait.

On the 14th of the days Featherston made the payment. His talk was light, acceptable to four
tribes, but the fallingof the wrong was upon us. It was a new word. There are 800 of Whanganui,
200 of Ngatiapa of Rangitaue, and Muaupoko 100. As for you Ngatiraukawa you are a half—you
are small.

Another word of Featherston's. We went together, we and these tribes to fight the rebel tribes
under the authority (mana) of the Queen. They have consented to sell, and 1 have agreed to their
proposals, and this land has come into my hands. I hoM it.

3
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Then we pronounced his words to be wrong. We said your act is a Maori robbery of our land.
The 800 of Whanganui are notpresent on this transaction. You are pretending that an agreement
has been made to make us fear.

He replied : Enough, it is done. I shall give the money to those who have sold the land.
"We said that is wrong. "We shall hold our own land. We shall not take your money. Such

persistently was the word of all the men.
(Here follow the signatures.)

Enclosure 8 in No. 2.
Statement by Henehe Te Hehekau and Hare Hemi Tahatcape.

Manawatu, 16th April, 18GG.
This is what was publicly said to Dr. Featherston on the sth April. These are the words of

Ngatiraukawa against the sale of Rangitikei.
Dp. Featherston, listen attentively. Act justly towards those within your Province. Ngatiapa

were desirous of sellingthis land on a former occasion. Ngatiraukawa refused to let it be sold, and it
was not sold. They permitted the opposite side of the. Hirer Rangitikei to be sold. It was sold to
Governor Grey. Ngatiapa weresatisfied. The Hirer Rangitikei constituted the boundary. Subse-
quently lhakara wished to sell Manawatu. Ngatiraukawa assented to hiswish, and Manawatuwas sold
to Governor Browne. The boundary began at Kaiwi, thence to Omarupupaka, and continued to
Pukingahau, where it ended. This was the permanent boundary. Afterwards Te Hirawanu sold the
upper part of Manawatu. Ngaktiraukawa assented, and that was sold to Governor Grey duringhis
second Government of New Zealand. Te Hirawanu was satisfied, and the boundary was fixed at
MangawharawharaTe Kotopiko, and Paripuwha, above Oroua, where it ended. This was a permanent
boundary.. This land which you are wishing to purchase we will never allow you to purchase: this
must be kept for our support. It must be carefully subdivided. We will pay the surveyor and assist
him.

Dr. Featherston made noreply whatever to these statements of ours.
On the 12thApril we, Ngatiraukawa, stood in the presence of Dr. Featherston, and expressedour

opinions strongly. "Dr. Featherston: Do not purchase our land without our assent, lest you do
wrong. If there be any dispute about our land, let it remain as it is : let a Law Court act that it .may
be finally settled, because a court has been established for Maori lands. Do not, pull a man down by
the back part of his head lest he have a bad fall, and death follow. For our land will not be given up
to you to purchase, never. No work has ever been completed in wrong doing. When it is agreed
upon by those dwelling in the land, then a sale may be completed."

Dr. Featherston replied: " There are SOO men of Whanganui, 200 of Ngatiapa, 100 of Rangitane
and Muaupoko tribes which went with me to fight against the bad tribes. They have agreed to sell;
this landhas become mine : I will give them the money."

Ngatiraukawa replied: " We shall retain our own land : we shall not receive your money."
On the 16th April we again stated our views to Dr. Featherston : " Listen, Dr. Featherston : Do

not give your money to those who areselling the land, but survey the land, that you may see the land
belonging to those men who are selling ; then you will be acting rightly, but you give your money first
to those who are selling the land, and then when you go with your chain to survey our lands, your chain
will not touch the land—it will bo interrupted. You, the Pakeha, will be angry without a cause,
inasmuch as you are seizing our land illegally.

" Withold your money, lest it be the occasion of stirring up strife, and the people of thisplace
be brought into trouble by you."

Hesteee Te Hebbea.it,
Hai;:: Hemi Tauakai'e.

\ Enclosure 9 in No. 2.
Statement by Pabakaia Te Potjepa and others.

Takapu, Whare Houkamau, April 5-14.
These were our decided words in the presence of Dr. Featherston and all the English of this

neighbourhood. We began thus :—
"Dr. Featherston : It is not a new thing for Ngatiraukawato refuse to sell this side of theRiver

Rangif ikei. Formerly, in the time of Governor Grey and Mr. McLean, we quietly gave up the other
sidefor Ngatiapa to do what they liked with ; that side of the river passed fairly into the hands of the
Governor, and just as deafly this side remained. Aiterwards, in the time of Mr. McLean and Governor
Browne, Seanuncke treated with Ngatiapa. Governor Browne wouldnotlisten to Ngatiapa. The sale
of Manawatu was arrangedwith Governor Browne, that of liangitikei with GovernorGrey, but those
Governors never said any words like those of yours. Listen to the voice of Whanganuiand Ngatiapa.
Those words are unjust."

There were six chiefs of our people who expressed these sentiments. Not a word did Dr.
Featherston say in answer to those words. What he said about surveying the land he did answer.
What we said about referring the ease to the Law Courts, he did answer. But theprecedents of those
two Governors he, did not make any answerabout, either to find fault with them or to accept them.
The new plan that we proposed torefer tfie matter to the Law Court, that he did speak about.

These were the words we clearly expressed :" Do what is just; don't do anything likerobbing us."
Parakaia te Pouepa, Heremia Puke,
Matene te Whiwhi, Henere te Herekau,
Paranihi te tau, Nepia Taratoa,
Wiriharai fe Ngira Aperahama te Huru,
Epiha te Kui.
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No. 3.
Copy of a Letter from His Honor Dr. Feathehstox to the Hon. Colonel Hatjltajx.

Superintendent's Office,
Sic,— Wellington, 7th May, 1860.

In reply to your letter of the 30th ultimo (No. 243) I have the honor to state that T shall be
prepared to furnish you with a report ofmyproceedings as Land Purchase Commissioner in connexion
with the purchase of the Manawatu Block, shortly after the arrival in town of Mr. Buller, who is
daily expected. I beg to thank you for the enclosures in your letter.

I have, &c,
I. E. Featiiehstox,

The Hon. Colonel Haultain. Superintendent.

No. 4.
Copy of a Letter from His Honor Dr. Featherstox to the Hon. Cor.oxEL Haultain.

Superintendent's Oilier.
Sin— Wellington; 7th May, 1866.

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letterof the4th instant, forwarding me
thesubstance ofan extractfrom a memorandumof the NativeSecretary'sOffice, respecting outstanding
land purchases, and also enclosing copies of sundry letters and documents relating to the Manawatu
purchase, and in reply to tender you my thanks for the same.

I have. &c.,
I. E. Feathebstox,

The Hon. Colonel Haultain. Superintendent.

No. 5.
Copy of a Letter to the Hon. the Native Mixistee to His Honor T. E. Featherstox.

Native Secretary's Office,
Sik,— Wellington, Dili May, 1866.
I have the honor to forward, for your information, a copy of notes of an interview which I
had this morning with a number of jVaiiws of the Ngatiraukawa tribe on the subject of the sale of
the Manawatu Block. Also, copies of letters as per margin.*

I have, Ac,
T. M. H.UT.TAIX,

His Honor I. E. Featherson, Wellington. In the absenceof theNative Minister.

-Enclosure 1 in. No. 5.
Notes of an interview between the Hon. Colonel Hauxtain, acting for the Native Minister^ and

thirty-fiveNatives of theNgatiraukawa tribe, on the subject of the sale of the Manawatu Block.
After some preliminary conversation. Henare Ilerekau, in the name of all present, suited

the object of the interview. He said that those presentrepresented the Ngatiraukawa tribe, who were
opposed to the purchase of their land by Dr. Fcatlierston. In the first instance only eight of their
tribe agreed to the sale; subsequently, however, in consequenceof the representations of Dr. Feather-
ston and Mr. Buller, seven more agreed, and ultimately seventeen. Those present, however, were
unnanimouslv opposed to the sale ; and not one of them had signed the agreement.

Parakaia Ponepu then spoke and said thatho came to protest against Dr. Featherston's statement
that 1100 natives consented to the sale. He had not seen that number, and those who consented
belonged to strange places; they came, he believed, from various parts of Wanganui.

Colonel Haultain then informedthem that Dr. Featherston had not yet sent in any report to ilie
Governmentof what had taken place in respect of the purchase of the Manawatu Block, but when
Mr. Buller came down a full report, would be made to the Government. In the meantime they were
not in aposition to state what they would do, not having sufiicieut information to enable them to judge
of the case. r»

Ho wished them to leave a document signed by all of them stating their objection to the sale to
Dr. Featherston.

Parakaia then read a document, (Enclosure 1), which was to be accepted as expressing the opinion
of all present.

In reference to this document Parakaia said that they had applied first to Mr. FitzGerald,
secondly to the Bishop, and thirdly to the Grovernment,and expressed in general terms strong
disapproval of the course taken by Dr. Featherston in respect of their land.

Colonel Haultain then told them that he would take the letter, and it should be considered by ihe
Government when they had received Dr. Featherston's report. In the meantime they might rest
satisfied that no sale would be allowed, unless the owners of the land agreed to it.

* Nepfc, Taratoa, ami others, to His Excellency—-Rangitikei, 2-ith April, 1800. Xepia. Taratoa, and others, to
Captain Russell—Otaki, 30th April, 1860, Aperahama te Huruhuru,and other*, to Runangae ofWellington, C'hri.-lelunvh,
Auckland,and England—Otaki,30th Aptfl, 18G0.
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Enclosure 2 in Xo. 5.
Copy of a Letter from Tskima, Tadatoa, .ami others, to His Excellency the Goverxok.

Matahiwi,Bangitikei,
Xt A Kawana IvEHEr,— Apen'ra 21, IMiO.

E hoa tena koe, ho whakaatu tenei na matou kia kite koe, ko Bangatikei to matou kainga
c nolio nei, ko te wahi whenua o taku niatua i pupuru ai i tou ringaringa, kaore he reo o nga iwi nei i
rcira, muri iho, ko Kawana Paraone, ko Ngatiapa ano kite hoko whakaritea ketia atu c taku matua
me to iwi katoa, ko Manawatuki leraKawana o matou, kahore he kupu a Kawana Paraone i puta kino
i era tan,kia whana matouki ona waewae, kia murua ranei nga whenua tutata o Manawatu puta noa
ki ona manga,kahore. Engari, na to matou Huparitene ano i muru nga wahi raliui i kapea i tera
hokonga a Kawana i Manawatu. Ko te Paretao tetehi, ko to Re'warewa tetehi i murua c ia, ko
fiangitikoi hoki tenei ka murua nei, ki to raruraru matou i te tail nei, na To Petatone, ehara i nga
tangata tuturu o Rangitikei tenei hoko whenua.

Ko Ihakara no Manawatu, no Whangamii etehi reo, no Porirua etehi reo, ko nga reo era i paingia
c tou hoa c Te Petatone, c muru ai i te whenua nei, ko aiia reo hfli whakaoho ; kanui te lie o tenei tv
hoko.■ Heoi hekupu tenakia koe, ko tenei hoko whenua kei roto i lon Ivawanatangatuarua o poke ana,
heoi ra man ano c whakakore tenei whenua ka murua nei c Te Petatone, kua tukua atu nga kujm a te
iwi ki nga Bunanga. Heoi Ano.

Kia Kawana Kerei.

Ka Nepia Taratoa, x Na Eoera Te Tiaki,
„ Aperaliama Te Huruhuru, x „ Hare Beweti Ngawhanga, x
„ Pumipi Te Eorooterangi, „ Paiura Taiporutu.„ Keremihana Wairaka, x " „ MatiahaTe Tohihi.
„ Wiriharai Te Ngira, x „ ParakaiaTe Pouepa,
~ Hoeta Te Kahuhui, - „ Porokoru Te Kaurii,
„ Kereama Paiura, „ AhitanaHukarahi,
„ Kerekcha Te Paehua, ~ Paranihi Te Tau, x
„ Pataropa Te Nge, „ Eawiri Te Koha. \

.. Katene Ngawhanga, . ~ Meihana Nga"kawe, s
„ Takana Te Kawa.

[tbakslatioit.]
To Goteuxok Gket,— Matahiwi, Eangitikei, 24th April. 1866.

Friend, salutations. This ia a statement of ours for your information. Eangitikei is our
residence. The piece of land belonging to my father withheld from your hand did not produces
murmur from the tribes. After that Governor Browne (arrived). Ngatiapll wanted to sell, but my
father and all the tribe arrangedfor another place, Manawatu (was offered) to that Governor of ours.
Governor Browne did not say any bad words to us in those years—that he would kick us with his feet,
or would seize our lauds close to Blanawatu, even to all its branches.

No, it was rather our Superintendent who seized the reserves excludedfrom that purchase of the
Governor's at Manawatu. Te Paretao was one ;Te Eewarewawas another seized by him. Now this
is Eangitikei which is being seized. If trouble should come upon us this year, it wilL be through Dr.
Featlierston. This land selling is not by theresidents of Eangitikei.

Ihakara belongs to Manawatu. others belong to AVhanganui, andothers belong to Porirua. These
are the voices (people) approved of by your friend Dr. I'eatherston. The reason why this land is
seized is that 1 iiese voices (people) intimidate others.

This kind of selling is very wrong. Enough. This is another word to you. This land purchase
is by your second (Provincial) Government. Enough, then. It is for you to prevent tiiis land now-
being seized by Dr. Featherston.

The people have written to the Assembly. Enough.
(Here follow the signatures.)

Enclosure 3 in No. 5.
Copy of a Letter from Nepia Tabatoa and others, to the Hon. the Native Ministee.

Te Whare o Matene,
Kia Kaeene Batava MnsriTA,— Aperira 30, ISGG.

He tika ta matouki kaore lie tikanga ia Ngatiapa, ia Eangitaiio, ia Muaupoko, te tika, tao
noa mai maton kua mate katoa ratou i a to Eauparaha, kua riro hoki te manao te whenua, kua waiho
hoki ratou hei mokai, tetehi, c patu tonu ana a te Eauparaha i nga tangatakino kohuru i ana tamariki,
no to matouroanga c uoho ana i roto ia ratou,katahi ano ka mutu te patu a te Eauparaha kataliiratou
ka ora.' Ka puta te kupu a te Eauparaha kia waiho te whenua mo Ngfttiraukawa, puta. noa ki
Hangitikei puta noamaiki Otaki.

Xo konei iwhai mana ai matou ki runga ki enei whenua, no Jionei ta matou pupuru whenua i tika
ai, tetehi, he maha no nga tau i noho ai i runga. Ko nga tangata o Ngatiraukawa i uru kite tuku
whenua a Ngatiapa, ko alia tangatahe puhaehae, he iti hoki no nga pihi whenua ia ratou, tetehi he
kore mauano ratou i roto i nga tangata c nui ana nga pihi whenua i Eangitikei.

Na, ko nga taugatakei a ratou te mana me te nuinga o te whenua.
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Ko Nepia Taratoa, Ko Arapata "Whioi,„ Aperahama te Huruhuru, „ Paora Taraotea,„ TeKeremihana Wairaka, „ Te Roera Rangiheuea,
~ Paranihi te Tau, „ Hare Reweti Parearua,„ Wiriharai to Angiangi, „ Pataropa te Nge,
„ Te Ara te Tahora (he wahine), „ Te Roera te Tiaki,„ Takana te Kawa, ■ „ Wereta te Huruhuru,
~ Hoeta te Kahuhui, „ Meihana te Nge,„ Ahitana Hukarahi, „ Matenga Tuoi,„ Te Miratana Rangitakahirua, „ Manahi te Mo,„ Te Kereama Taiporutu, „ Porokoru te Kauru,„ Katene te Waiho, „ Eewi Pariarua,„ Puniipi te Kaka, „ Eoera Hukiki,„ Te Whatanui, „ Hoani Whareiaia,„ Eawiri Wanui, „ Nerehana te Paea,„ Te Kepa Kerikeri, „ Pitihira te Kuru,„ Eota Tahiwi, „ Te Hemarate Mataaho,„ Tohutohu, „ Nikora te Utahi,„ Harehemi Taharape, „ Parakaia te Pouepa.

Ko nga tau i noho ai matouki runga o Bangitikei, ka 31 matahi.
Kaore he ahi a Ngatiapa c ka ana i runga o Eangitikei tae noamai ki enei ra.
Na konei ta matouki i tv ai, te tuatahi—Ko Kawana Kerei—tuarua, ko Kawana Paraone—te

tuatoru ko Kawana Kerei ano, mau tonu to matou kupu pupuri ekore c mutu. Ka huri.

[tbaxslatioit.]
House ofMatene,

To Captaix Russell (Native Minister),— Otaki, 30th April, 1866.
"What we have said is true. Neither Ngatiapa, Rangitaue, nor Muaupoto have anything to

do with it (the land.)
(This is) the truth, on our arrival theywere all killed or beaten by Te Rauparaha. The authority

of the land had also departed, and they remained slaves.
Again, Te Rauparaha was continually slaying the people who had murdered his children. On

account of our long residence amongst them, at last Rauparaha ceased slaying them, and then
they lived.

The word of Te Rauparaha went forth: Let the land remain for Ngatiraukawa as far as Rangitikei
and as far as Otaki.

By this wo obtained authority over these lands, and by this our withholding the land is just.
Again, we have been living on it for many years.

The people ofNgatiraukawa who have joined in the sale of the land and Ngatiapa, these people
are jealous on account of the small pieces of land belongingto them: another (reason) is that they
have no influence amongst the people who have large pieces of land at Rangitikei.

Now these are the people who possess the authority and the greater portion of the land.
(Here follow the signatures.)

We have lived on the land thirty-one years.
The fire of Ngatiapa has not beenkindled vpvto the present day.*
This is why our speechhas been put forth: first, Governor Grey; second, Governor Browne: third,

Governor Grey again.
Our determination to hold fast to the land is fixed and will nevercease.

Enclosure 4 in No. 5.
Copy of a Letter from Aperauama Te HL'BTjntrKTJ and others to all the Rttnanga.

Otaki, 30 Aperira, 1866.
Xi nga Runanga katoa o Poneke, o Pokupa, Ahuriri, o Akarana, Ingarangi, onga wahikatoa o Kuini,—E hoa ma, ka haere atu matouki Poneke, ko te take tena o nga tangata o Rangitikei, o Roua,
o Manawatu, o Poroutawhao, o Otaki, kahaere atu nei ratou ki Poneke, he panga mai no
te mamao ki o ratou ngakou, he nui rawa no to pouri, o nga mahi a Te Petatone ki nga taringa o
enei Lwi Te tuatahi, ko a matou reta o mua,ko te Makarini hei Kai-whakawa mo Rangitikei, ko te
kai hoko ia o te whenua nei i mua, koia tc kai pupuri o nga kupu a nga iwi i mau ai tenei taha,
kua whiua ketia atu ki a Ma raua ko Kawana Kerei ko tera taha o Rangitikei, kua rongo raua
kua kite raua i te maunga o te wahi c pupuri nei ratou, koia hoki te iwi i tohe aikia Kawana
Kerei raua ko Te Poki, ko Tc Makarini ano hei Kai-whakawa mo nga pu a Ngatiapa raua
ko Ngatiraukawa, Ko te Kai-whakawa tera i pai ai nga iwi nei hei mahi. Heoti whakaritea
ake c koutou ko To Petatone hei Kai-whakawa mo to matou raruraru, kaore i marama, i purua
c ia nga rcti, apoiu-i iho, na he Kai-whakawa i ki ta koutou whakarongo, kia matou ia, he kai
puru ia i njjawaha ote iwi, pouri iho i reira. Koia matou i tohe ai i era tau kia whakawakia. Kia
tukua mai hekooti whakawa, kaore nga Runanga i pai, i tohe ano matou kia puritia atu ia, kaore
koutou i pai, i naiancikua tae mai iakite tono i Rangitikei, kaore i marere Rangitikei ia Nepia, ia
Aperahama, kua raruraru matou, he Kai-whakawa ano ia ki ta koutou whakarongo, ki ta matou ia he
kai muru taonga ia, he kai whakatika ia i nga reo ke o tahaki, whakahengia iho c ia te kupu pupuri a
nga tangata tuturu, tau iho te pouri ki nga tangata ata mahi.

* Meaning that Ngatiapa has not occupied the land.
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Tukua atukite Karere MaoriKia rongo katoa.
Aperaliama To Hurulmru, x Arapata Te Whioi,
Wiriharai Te Angiangi, x Eota Te Tahiwa,
Nepia Taratoa, Paranihi Te Tau, x
Hoeta TeKahuhui, Te Hoia Te Eiu,
Te Boera Herua, Whatanui.
Wereta Te Huruhuru, Ngapuke,
Katene Ngawhanga, Henere Ngakoti,
Kereaina Paura, x Te Popo,
Timiuna Taiporutu, x Te Eau,
MiratanaTe Eangitakahirua, x Topi Te Kahuhara,
Pataropa Te Nge, x Hakaria,
Parokoru TeKauru, x Kireona,
Matenga Te Tiaki,x Wireti,
Meihana Ngakawe,x Epiba Taitimu,
Hare Eeweti Ngawhanga, Henere Waiatua,
Manahi Te Amutini, x Te Maera Te Hau,
Matiaha Te Tohihi, Keremihana Te Akiha, x
Pumipi Te Korooterangi, Winiata Taiaho,x
HenereTe Herekau, Eruera Te Whioi,
Eirimu Te Maraku, Keaekeha Te Paehua,
Takana Te Kawa, Heremia Te Tihi,
Te Ara Te Tahora, x (he wahine) Ahitana Hukarahi,
Eenao Te Wharepakaru, . Harehemi Taharape,
Parakaia Te Pouepa, Boera Eangihenea,
Eawiri Te Wanui, Pitihira Te Kuru.

[teaxsiatiox.]
Otaki, 30th April, 18G6.

To all the Eunangas of Wellington, Christchurch, Ahuriri, Auckland, England, and all the places of
the Queen,—Friends, we are going to Wellington. Thereason why all the people of Eangitikei, of Kara,

of Manawatu, of Porotana, of Otaki, are going to Wellington is on account of the pain of their
hearts. They are very dark at the work of Dr. Featherstonin the ears of the people.

The first one (former letter) that Mr. McLean should have had the management of Eangitikei.
He was the buyer of the land before ; he holds the words of the tribes who retained possession of this
side. The other side of Eangitikei, was long since given up to Mr. McLean and Governor Grey. They
have heard and seenhow that part was held which we still hold. That was why the people urged
Governor Grey and Mr. Fox to let Mr. McLean have the settlement of (the dispute) relative to
Ngatiapa and Ngatiraukawa taking up arms. That was the magistrate desiredby the people to work
and to finish, but youappointedDr. Featherston to settle our troubles; but he is not clear. He retained
our rents, and we were dark. You regard him as an adjudicator; to our ideahe is a person who stops
the mouths of the people, and we are dark in consequence. That was why we urged in theseyears that
it should be settled by law, and that a court should be held; but the Assembly did not consent. We
urged that he should be kept back, but you did not consent. Now he has come to ask for Eangitikei,
but it will not be given up by Nepia and Aperahama. We are in trouble. In your estimation he is a
judge; inoursheisonewhosei7.es property, who introduces people from one side, who opposes the
wordsof the rightful owners, and causes vexation to settleupon the people who work quietly.

Send this to the Maori Gazette that all may hear.
(Here follow the signatures.)

No. 6.
Copy of a Letter from His Honor Dr. Featheeston to the Hon. the Native Ministee.

Superintendent's Office,
Sic,— Wellington, 30th June, 18GG.

I have the honor to enclose Minutes of the various interviews I have held during the last few
months, with the tribes interested in theEangitikei-Manawatu Block. These minutes, mainly drawn
up from notes taken by Mr. Buller, will place His Excellency's Governmentin possession of all that
has taken place in reference to the adjustment of the long pending dispute between the Ngatiapa, on
the one side, and the Eangitanes and Ngatiraukawas on the other. I may mention that the purchase
deed has already been signed by above one thousand claimants.

I have, &c,
The Hon. Colonel Eussell. I. E. Feathebston.

Enclosure 1 in No. G.
Notes of an interview between His Honor Dr. Featueestost (Land Purchase Commissioner), and

Ihakaea Te Hokowiiituktjei, at Scott's Accommodation House, on Wednesday, 22nd
November, 1865. "
After mutual greetings, and some desultory conversation on other subjects, His Honor referred to

the Eangitikei question, expressing his regret that, since their last meeting, attempts hadbeen madeto
create discontent among the Natives, and to disturb the existing arrangements for the sale of the
block of land to the Crown.
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Ihakara at oncefully entered into the subject. He referred to the aspect which the dispute
assumed in ISO3, when the tribes first took up a hostile attitude towards each other, and to the steps
taken at that time by Mr. Fox and Mr. Buller, E.M., to prevent the threatened collision; and he
admitted that, but for Dr. Featherston's timely intervention, therewould have been actual fighting.
Although not afraid to fight, he preferred peace, and had always been anxious to arrange matters
amicably with the Ngatiapa. He was therefore glad when Mr. Buller proposed an arbitration, and he
waited a long timefor the Governor to appoint a Commissioner. But thearbitratorsnever came, and
he had at length resolved on asserting his claims by force of arms, and without any reference to the
Government. He was prepared to acknowledge that it was Dr. Featherston's interference thathad
prevented this. His feeling towards His Honor at that time was oneof affection and esteem ; but it
had since become one of distrust and suspicion. When he determined on selling the land, he was
influenced only by a desire to prevent further trouble. He supposed thatin selling the land, he would
sell as achief and not as a slave. He induced all the leading chiefs of his tribe to unite with him, and
on the 12th October, 1864, the land was formally offered to and accepted by His Honor, subject to
terms. It was not for some time after this, that he discovered the real nature of the transactionin
which he had been engaged. He then heard,from the Pakehas, that a new law had been passed (the
Native Lands Act), throwing open all the Native lands of New Zealand for direct traffic, but " fencing
in the land between the Ohau andEangitikei Eivers." He could not see why he, who had never been
in rebellion against the Government, should be treated with less considerationthanother Natives. He
regarded the exclusion as an oppression of his tribe, and he wrote to Mr. Mantell a letter of
complaint. He was told to petition the Assembly ; his eyes were now opened. He found that Dr.
Featherston and Mr. Buller, whom he had always regarded as his best friends, were dealing
treacherously with him, and that he was selling his land " blindfolded." He at once resolved on
rescinding his agreementwith Dr. Featherston. He told the tribe of this and they consented. A
petition was forthwithprepared, signed by a great numberand forwardedto Mr. Mantell. It was then
that Mr. Buller came again to the district. He came on a visit, bringing a message from the Govern-
ment. If Mr. Buller hadremained at Manawatu. it might have been all well; but "his heart wasnow
saddened andperplexed," and on hearing of Mr. Buller's arrival, he resolved on not seeing him. He
was shirting for Eangitikei, when Mr. Buller met him near the Awahou settlement. He intendedto
avoid a discussionwith him, but ultimately he consentedto meet Mr. Buller at Wharangi, to state the
grounds of his dissatisfaction. They met there on the evening of the same day, and, for many hours,
they talked over the Eangitikei question, viewing it in allits bearings. Mr. Buller's explanations were
satisfactoryto him; he saw the whole matter in a new light, consented to abide by his agreement,and
wrotea letter to thateffect to the Superintendent. Mr. Buller had succeeded in removing his feelings
ofdiscontent, and in " making his heart light." But it was not long before another cloud cameover
his mind—a darker one than before; he was now sore at heart, and full ofa dark foreboding. He
could sec no end to thisEangitikei difficulty, and ho began to regret that he had ever listened to the
voice of thepeace-maker, instead of taking forciblepossession of the land. Hewould explain the cause
of this change in his feelings. When thepetition of the tribe was sent to Mr. Mantell, the latter sent
it back, saying that the signatures were informal. This annoyed him, for he now felt that the Pakehas
were conspiring to "humbug" him (hamapaka). Another petition was prepared and sent to Mr.
Mantell. It was afterwards laid before the Assembly. The great Eunangarefused to listen to their
prayer ; and, from a letter which he had received from somePakeha in Wellington, under the fictitious
name of "Kaionge," he learnt that this was owing to the opposition of Dr. Featherston, and to the
letters which Mr. Buller had sent in. He replied to "Kaionge's " letter, and in return, received a
caricature (which he produced) representing the three tribes as pigs with Maori heads, being led or
driven by Dr. Featherston and Mr. Buller. This had determined him against a sale of the land, so
long as a restrictive clause of the Native Lands Act continued in force. He claimed to be put on a
level, in this respect, with other Native tribes, and would resist to the last any attempt to coerce him
to terms, or to force him into a sale of the land.

Dr. Featherston replied to the following effect. He said that he was glad Ihakara had spoken so
freely, because the first step towards theremoval of a supposed grievance was that it should be clearly
stated andexplained. He was hardly surprised that the caricature and the letter signed " Kaionge"
had annoyed him ; nor was he surprised that the constant talk of the Pakehas about the land being in
prison had made his " heart sad." He would not ask him to name the Pakehas to whom he referred,
but it was pretty generallyknown who they were. It was also very well known that these Pakehas
had a selfish and interested motive in the dishonorable course they wereadopting. They had, however,
now done all they could do, and said all they could say on the subject. If, therefore, he should
succeed in removingfrom Ihakara's mind the unfavorable impression that had been produced, he felt
sure that he would not again allow his mind to be poisoned by anyrepresentations of the kind,
howeverplausible or apparently well intentioned. He would speak first of the allegedinjustice of the
restrictive clause in " The Native Lands Act." Ihakara had complained that all New Zealand was
now thrown openfor direct sale to Pakehas, except the Manawatu Block, which lias been " fenced in."
This was in some measure true ; but Ihakara was perhaps not aware that before any land could be
sold by the Natives, the ownership would require to be investigated by a duly constructed Land
Court, and a certificate of title issued; nor was he perhaps aware that the Native Lands Act
expressly exempts from its operation all lands on which purchase deposits have been madeby the
Government. Now although no deposit had yet been paid on the Eangitikei-Manawatu Block,
Ihakara couldnot deny that virtually it waa already in thehands of the Commissioner. Ihakarawould
remember the meeting at Manawatu, when a formal offer of sale was made by himself and other
representative chiefs, and accepted by the Commissioner on behalf of the Crown. He would remember
on that occasion giving up to the Commissioner a carved club, in token of the absolute surrenderof
the land, subject to terms. It was only fair therefore to deal with the Eangitikei-Manawatu block as
landunder sale to the Government, although the final terms had not yet been arranged. But apart
from all this, he felt sure that Ihakara would agree with him that to attempt to get the ownership to
this particular block investigated and settled in any Land Court would be a mere farce. Every effort
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had been made to induce the disputants to agree to a settlement of their claims by arbitration, but to
no effect. Neither tribe would admit itself in the wrong, or submit to an adverse decision of the
Court. It was only after these efforts had failed that the Natives talked of selling the block, and the
leading Ngatiraukawa chiefs had repeatedly acknowledged botli to him and to Mr. Buller that a sale
of the whole of the land in dispute was the only possible solution of this long standing difficulty.
With regard to the caricature, which seemed to have produced so much irritation and heart-burning,
lie would ask how it was possible that the Superintendent and Mr. Buller could, with truth, be
represented as driving the Natives into a sale of the land, when the offer of sale had come from the
Natives themselves. It was evident that the object of the caricature was to rouse theevil passions of
the Maori and to create mischief in the district. He trusted, however, that the caricaturist would be
discovered and exposed. "With reference to the anonymous letter, he would simply observe that
" Kaionge" knew he was resorting to base and unworthy means, and had not therefore the courage to
produce his name.

Ihakara, in reply, stated that lie had listened with much satisfaction to what His Honor had said;
that a part of the "gloom" had nowbeen removed from his mind,but not all of it. Heagreed with much
that His Honor had said about Eangitikci. He acknowledged that all the laudbetween the Manawatu
and Rangitikei Rivers was in dispute ; that the disputants would cometo no terms as to tho possession
of it; that the adverse decision of any Court would be treated with contempt by either tribe, if strong
enough to assert its claimby force ; and that hecould see no escapefrom the difficultybut by a mutual
sale of their disputed claims to the Queen. All this he felt bound to admit ; but, nevertheless, he
could not see that this in any way justified the exclusion of the landto the south ofthisblock —between
Mauawatu and Ohau—from the privileges of the Act. This laud was not in dispute like the other
block, and therefore the same argument would not apply. So loag as this landwas excluded, he would
still believe that the caricaturerepresented a truth, and that both he and the other chiefVi, who had
acted with him, were reduced to the portionof " pigs," and had been helping to build their own sty.

Dr. Featherston replied at once that, if the Natives wished it, he could see no objection to the
land south of the Manawatu Barer being brought under the operation of the Act, though he had heard
that this land also was in dispute.

Ihakara thenexpressed his entire satisfaction ; and said that this concession, on the part of His
Honor, had convinced him that his misgivings were groundless, and that he was being dealt with fairly
and honorably.

Mr. Buller, R.M., was present throughout the interview, interpreted all that passed, and entered
into a long discussion with Ihakara on the subject of the Rangitikei dispute, and theproposed sale of
the block.

Superintendent's Office, Wellington, I. E. Pkatiiekston.
30th June, 1866.

Enclosure 2 in No. 6.
Notes of a Meeting at Maramaihoea (Rangitikei),on Monday, the 4th. December, 1865.
Present—About sixty Natives (chiefly Ngatiraukawa), His Honor Dr. Featherston, and Mr.

Buller, R.M. (Ihakara was not present.) "Wi Pukapuka opened the meetingwith along speech. He referred to the agreementwhich he and
other chiefs had made with Dr. Featherston for the sale of the Rangitikei-Manawatu Block, and to the
attempts he had himselfbeenmaking towards obtaining the consent of the tribes to theproposed sale.
He said that when the Native Lands Act was originally explained to him he was satisfied with the
exclusion of the Manawatu Block, and believed that it would tend to a peaceful solution of the present
question. But his eyes had since been opened. He had discovered that he was a" pig"—that he was
the laughing-stock of the Pakehas—that a fence had been erected around his land, and that the
Superintendent and Mr. Buller were driving him into a trap. His tribe (the Ngatiraukawa) had
always been considered a respectable tribe—a tribe of chiefs. They had never been stigmatized as
" pigs" before. He would stand it no longer. He would snap tho rope that had been tied to his leg
by the Superintendent, with his own consent, and he would break down the fence that enclosed him.
He had certainly consented to the sale of the Rangitikei Block, but he had done so in ignorance. He
■was not then aware of the disgrace he was bringing upon his tribe. All the tribeswould now point
the finger at them and say, " Look at those Ngatiraukawapigs." If he allowed himself to be drawn,
into the sale this saying would be confirmed. He was stillwilling to sell theblock, because he saw no
other way of finally settling the difficulty; but he opposed the attempt now being made to drive them
to terms. He referred to the impounded rents. They had been kept out of their rent-money for
nearly two years. The runholders werewillingto pay, but the Superintendent warned them against
doing so, and had threatened to eject them. The Natives had patiently waited,but now they wanted
money. They had agreed about the division of the rent-money, and were, therefore, in no way
apprehensive of a quarrel. In proof of this he might mention thefact that a sum of £500 had been
paid to them for the right of cutting timber on the disputed block, and that this large amount had
amicably distributed. He was aware that Ihakara had met the Superintendent at Scott's, and had
entered into some compromise with him. He wished to intimate at once thathe was no longeron the
same friendly terms with Ihakara as formerly, and that he would not allow himself to be influenced by
anything Ikahara might say or do. He blamedIkahara for consenting originally to the impounding of
rents, without first obtainingthe general consent of the tribes. It was nowevident that Ikahara was
acting throughout from selfish motives, for he had sought aprivate meeting with the Superintendent
at Scott's, and had prevailed upon His Honor to promise the privileges of the Native Lands Act over
his own lands south of the Manawatu River, leaving the Rangitikei Block " locked up in the prison
house." He had, in short, betrayed the tribe, and theywould trusthim no longer. The Superintendent
had all along objected to the payment of any rents—ostensibly for fear of a renewal of hostilities,but
really in order to force them to terms. This was clearly an attempt to " drive" them—this was^
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indeed, making " pigs "of them. He would endure this state of things no longer. He had sounded
the tribe, and found them all of one iniud—all determinedto assert their rights at whatever risk. He
had waited for apublic opportunity of warning the Superintendent not to provoke the tribe to extreme
measures. The opportunity had now come. In the presence, therefore, of the assembled tribe,and in
the hearing of his brother chiefs, he called upon His Honor to " deliver the rents from prison." The
runholders would notpay without his consent. If, therefore, His Honor refused to give this consent,
they would take the law into their own hands,and would convince the tribes that they were something
better than " pigs." They would at once drive off the sheep and cattle. They would seize some in
payment of back rent, and would drive off therest. This was no idle threat. The tribe had all agreed
to this, and were prepared for the consequences. They must have a final answer from His Honor at
once. Unless the rents were immediately promised, at daylight on the morrow they would execute
their threats. Heconcluded by calling on the meeting to express their views on the several points he
hadraised.

Aperahama Te Huruhuru spoke next. He expressed his entire approval of all that had fallen
from Wiremit Pukapuka, and declared his intention to seize or drive off tne stock unless therents were
immediately paid.

Several other Ngatiraukawamen spoke to the same effect, and were followed by
Wiriharai (of the Ngatikauhata) from Oroua. He was not only opposed to the impounding of the

rents, but was also averse to the sale of the block. He had never consented to the sale, anil never
would consent. He was still a kingite. [\Vi Pukapuka here interrupted him : " Don't use thatname
in this meeting. What have we to do with kingism ?"] Apart from his kingism he was opposed to
the sale of the landto Pakehas.

Tohutohu (of Oroua) spoke next. He had not yet, he said, consented to theproposed sale. He
wanted to receive the back rent. After they had received the rents and spent all the money, they
would perhaps be disposed to talk about the

Tapa Te Whata, Te Kooro, Nepia Maukeringutu, Tamihana Whareakaka, and several others then
addressed the. Superintendent, urging His Honor to withdraw the restrictions in regard to payment of
arrears of rent, andpromising to make such a division of the money between the contending tribes as
would effectually prevent arenewal of hostilities.

His Honor replied at some length. He referred to the early history of the Raugitikei dispute.
He sketched the course of events from the time when, at the request of the Government, he came up
to prevent, if possible, an armed collision of parties. He reminded them of what had taken place at
the several meetings between himself and the leading chiefs, and of the final agreement they had come
to at the Whnrangi'meeting in October, 1864. He requested them distinctly to bear in mind that the
proposal for the sale of the block came in the first instance from the Natives and not from the
Commissioner; that on separate occasions the land was offered to him by the several tribes claiming it,
as their only means of settling the quarrel ; and thathe ultimately, in the name of the Queen, accepted
that offer, subject to future terms to be mutually agreed upou. He came up originally not to treat for
the land, but to propose an arbitration of title, and to prevent the effusion of blood between the
contending tribes. At the Tauhirihoe meeting, and again at the Ngatiapa meeting, he pressed this plan
of a committeeupon the Bunanga, but without success. He made no attempt to induce the Natives
to surrender their disputed claims to the Crown ; he said not one word to them about the sale of the
land. He simply endeavouredto adjust an angry dispute which threatened to embroil the district in
an intertribal war, and he sugL;v:t< ii to them a plan the object of which was not to alienate but to
secure to each tribe its fair share of the land. His plan was rejected by the Ngatiapa, who of their
own accord offered the land in absolute sale to the Crown. As this offer virtually amounted to a
pledge that the tribe wouldnot assert their rights by force of arms, or continue any longerto threaten
thy peace of the district, hofelt bound to accept it; but in doing so he wascareful to explain to them
thathe didnot accept the land, but such right or interest as they might hereafter be proved to have in
the land. By doing this he disarmedthe Ngatiapa, and put an end to the threatened collision. He
did not, however, take advantage of this arrangement to force either party to terms. He simply
explained to the Ngatiraukawa and Eangitane, at Ihakara's Pa, what he had done, warned them
against disturbing the peace of the district, and proposed the withholding of all rents till some
amicable arrangement had been mutually come to. This proposal was readily agreed to, and from that
time to the present all parties had adhered faithfully to the compact. To this he attributed in a great
measure the peace on this coast. "VVi Pukapuka, Aperahama, Tapa, and other chiefs had now asked
him to withdraw therestriction, and to allowthe rents to bepaid. They had expressed their conviction
that it would not be attended with evil consequences, as the three tribes would now agree to an.
equitable division of the money; and in support of this opinion they and instanced the ease ofa settler
who hadrecently paid £500 for theright of cutting timber on the disputedblock, which sum had been
amicably distributedbetween the contending claimants. With regard to this case,hewould simply say
that any settlerwho had daredto violate the existing arrangement would be held liable for all the
consequences of such an Act. As to the danger or otherwise of allowing the rents to be paid, that
was quite a matter of speculation. The meeting had ex])ressed a very decided oj>inion thatno harm
would result from it; there were others who confidently believed that the removal of the restrictions
would lead directly to a renewal of the contest. They might be right in their view, but he would
remind themthat formerly, while thd dispute was dormant, the rents were paid, and the tribes divided
them without coming to any open issue. The disaffection, however, gradually deepened, and the old
chief Nepia, who was shrewd and far-seeing, was so confident of an approaching rupture between the
tribes, that shortly before his death he sent for the Ngatiapa, and, with a speech worthy a good and
generous chief, handed over to their leading men his own share of the rents, exhorting them at
the same timeto cultivate friendlyrelations with the Ngatiraukawa after his death ; and those at the
meeting who were present on that occasion—who saw the dying chief perform this graceful and
honourable act, and who also saw the Ngatiapa grasp at and carry away the money—must have then
felt that the approaching death of Nepia would solve a tie thathad long kept the tribes in check, and
that ere many months after his departure the smouldering feelings of discontent and jealousy would

5
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break into an open flame. So it had proved ; and although the tribes were now at peace with each
other, and were possibly prepared to receive and divide the rents on amicable terms, it was more than
likely that again the like causes would ere long lead to the like results, for the question of title was as
far from settlement as ever. His Honor felt that the responsibility of deciding the point raisedby this
meetingrested not with the one tribe or with the other, but with himself; that should ho heedlessly
allow the rents to he paid and the contest to reopen, the Government and the country, the Maori and
the Pakeha alike, would blame him for the consequences. For these reasons he could not lightly
dispose of the question, or readily give his consent to the request so strongly urged by the meeting.
He would, however, ascertain the feeling of the other parties interested. He would proceed first to
Oroua and holda meeting with the Ngatikauwhata; he would then go on to Puketotara, and see the
Rangitane; thence to Manawatu, where Ihakara was now staying ; and proceeding down the coast he
would meet the other sections of the Ngatikaurakawa at Otaki. After a short stay in Wellington, he
would return to Bangitikei, and holdmeetings with the Ngatiapa at their various settlements. If he
found all parties unanimous—-if with one voice they demanded the rents, promising to divide them
equitably and without contention—he would probably yielfl to their request. He would not actually
promise to do so, because he felt that he could not free himself from responsibility in the matter ; but
a unanimous request from the three tribes would go far to influence his decision. He extremely
regretted to hear men of position like "Wi Pukapuka and Aperahama resorting to threats in the hope
of intimidatinghim. He believed that all the Natives knew his character too wellto suppose thathe
would allow himself to be in any degree coerced or influenced by any threats that they could use. He
considered it sufficient to warn these Natives that the Government wouldhold themresponsible for the
consequences of anyrash or unjustifiable acts. And while on this subject, he would express his regret
that Wi Pukapuka had so far forgotten himself as to speak disparagingly of his brother chief Ihakara,
It was known to all in the meeting thatno one had taken a more active part in this matter or had
worked more earnestly in the interests of the tribe than Ihakara. AVi Pukapuka had admitted a
personal quarrel between them, and he feared that he had allowed his feelings to blind his judgment.
He felt convinced that Wi Pukapuka would himself regret the expressions he had used, and he now
called upon him to come forward publicly and withdraw them.

Mr. Buller, K.M., then addressed the meeting, particularly with respect to the charge against
Ihakara of having betrayed the tribe by effecting a sort of compromise and obtaining His Honor's
consent (so far as he was individually concerned) to a limitation of therestrictive clause of the
Native Lands Act, so as to include only the disputed block. He put the matter before them in its
true light, by narrating briefly what had transpired at the interview between Ihakara and Dr.
Featherston, at Scott's Accommodation House, on 22nd November.

Wi Pukapuka replied to the effect that the explanation in regard to Ihakara was satisfactoryto
him, and that he had spokenunder a misconception of thefacts. He stated that ho entirely concurred
in His Honor's proposal with respect to the rents. He believed thatall the tribes were unanimous in
the matter. In that case he should still insist upon having the rents. If it should prove otherwise
he would be willing to wait. He hoped that His Honor would not bo angry with them for the threats
that had been used ; but every allowanceought to be made for them, for they were no longer chiefs
but " pigs," and pigs werenot supposed to have much wisdom.

Dr. Featherston here interrupted the speaker, saying that he also had something to say about the
" pigs." He was aware thata caricature had been sent to them by an anonymous correspondent in
Wellingtou, in which he and Mr. Buller were represented as driving three pigs with men's heads,
supposed to represent the three tribes concerned in the disj)ute. They were surely not so foolish as to
suppose that they were pigs because some unknown person had chosen to call them so ? One thing
was very certain ; if they had allowed themselves to be made " pigs" of, hewas himself as much a " pig."
as any of them, inasmuch as he had madehimself aparty to the whole transaction. After the threats
they hadbeen using it was possible that another caricature would be received representing himself
and Mr. BuUer with sheep's heads, and the chiefs of the three tribes attempting to drive them off the
land. (General laughter.)

Wi Pukapuka, Aperahama te Huruhuru, and other chiefs, replied briefly, and expressed their
satisfaction at the manner in which His Honor had met them and listened to theircomplaints.

Dr. Featherston spoke briefly in conclusion and explained to the meeting that Mr. Buller would
remain in the district, and would endeavour to come to some final arrangement with them for the
purchase of the block, as it was now very desirable, on every ground, that the matter should be
brought to aclose.

On the evening of the same day (4th December) Dr. Fcatherston had a meeting with the
Ngatikauwhata at Oroua.

After a few words of welcome from Tapa te Wliata, the head chief, Te Koora addressedHis Honor
in a short but very earnest speech. He stated that he was entirely opposed to a sale of the land, and
that he was equally opposed to His Honor's interference with the rents. He was aware that the
leases were illegal, but as the Government had permitted them to traffic in this way for several years,
and to receive the rents, he considered that the privilege had been conceded to them,And he did not
recognize the right of the Superintendent, or of any one else, to step in and impound their rents on
any pretext whatever. Ho had heard some of the Natives using threats. He believed there were
those who had fullyresolved on killing or driving off the stock unless the rents were immediately paid.
He entirely disapproved of those threats, and he would be no party to any illegal interference with
the stock. He would resent, however, the impounding of the rents by doing the utmost in his power
to prevent a sale of the land to the Government; whereas, if the rents were allowed to be paid, he
would be willingto entertain the question of sale and to discuss it with his people.

Beupena ami several others baying spoken in the same strain His Honor went fully into the
subject, and gave them an account of what had transpired at the Marimaihoea meeting on the
morning of that day.

It was ultimately arranged that Tapa, Te Kooro, and several others, should accompany His
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Honor's party to Puketotara on the morrow, in order that theymight be present at the meeting with
the Eangitane, when the whole question would be argued and discussed.

Dr. Featherston's party proceeded accordingly to Puketotara on the following day, descending the
Oroua Eivcr by canoeand arriving at the settlement about 4 p.m. Messengers were then despatched
to collect the tribe for a meeting on the morrow.

I. E. Feathehsto>-.
Superintendent's Office, Wellington, 30th June, 1866.

Enclosure 3 in No. 6.
Notes of a Meeting at Puketotara (Manawatu), Gth December, 1865.

The Eangitane having assembled with their chiefs in the Eunanga house (Puketotara), His Honor
and party entered about 9 a.m., and a very spirited discussion commenced, which lasted (with only an
hour's intermission) till about 11 p.m. Hoani Meihana te Kenehe opened the meetingwith a speech,
to the following effect:—Welcome Dr. Featherston and Mr. Buller, We have long expected you, and
we now welcome you. All my people have assembled, and you will presently have their thoughts
respecting Rangitikei. If they say hard and unpleasant things do not be angry. Eemember that they
have waited long and grown impatient. I shall speak for myself; all the men of the tribeswill speak
for themselves. I have nothing to add to what I have already said. You will remember the meeting
at Te Wharangi Hotel, when the nine chiefs handedover to you this land of fighting and trouble, and
when you consented to take it. I was present at that meeting. I consentedto all that was said.
Eangitlkei is still in your hands, and we arewaiting for you to complete the purchase. What we said
then I say now,—" Let all the tribe agree." If the tribe will make haste and unanimously agree to
the sale we shall soon get our money ; if, however, the sale is delayed, we shall have to wait the longer
for our money. I shall neverconsent to your relaxing your hold upon Rangitikei. Some of my tribe
may disapprove of whathas been done. Ido not propose to sell the land in spite of them. When the
chiefs, on behalf of their respective tribes, offered to sell the lands, they told you that the final decision
would rest with the people. I say the same now; but this I also say, I shall never consent to let
Bangitikci be taken out of your hands, to become again—as it probably would—the scene of conflict
and division. The tribes will never agree as to the title. Therefore, I say, hold fast to the land. Don't
listen to the eager cry of the people for the rents. If you allow that moneyto be paid, and evil should
result, the fault will be yours. I shall never recede from my offer, nor will the other chiefs. Some of
the people have already consented; the rest will in due time. Do not be in a hurry to close the
purchase. lamin no hurry for the money, if thepeople would prefer waiting. Let us go on talking,
talking, talking. I shall not cease to urge my tribe to sell the land. I hope my relative Te Peeti will
notbe angry at what lam saying. [Peeti: go on, go on. The discussion is between friends. Let us
fight with each other on friendly terms—let there be no anger. You mayin the end prevail,or Imay.]
lam glad that my friend is not disposed to be angry. What lam saying now is nothing fresh. I
have never ceased to say it. Since the day Imet you at Manawatu I have been constantly urging my
people to get rid of the disputed land; and I shall continue to do so. Let Mr. Buller talk with the
people ; let Ihakara talk with his tribe; let the Ngatiapa go on talking; and I will talk with my
relations. The end of all this talking will be that Eangitikei will be sold, with the consent of all the
people. It may be a long time hence; but that does not matter. Let the tribes have ample time for
talking. I have nothing more to say.

Tapa te Whata : I have only a few words to say. Hoani Meihana has said all. I agree entirely
with him. I shall never withdrawfrom the agreement to sell. I listened to the cry of the people, and
I urged you to pay the rents, but thatmatterrests entirelywith you. Asfor the land it is still in your
hands. Be earnest in holding it. Wait patiently till all the members of the tribe have consented, and i

the land willbe yours.
Peeti Tc Aweawe: Salutations,Dr. Featherston andMr. Buller. 1 was not present at the meeting

at Manawatu when thenine chiefs handed over Eangitikci. You did not hear my voice then, but you
shall hear it now. I dispute the right of those nine men to dispose of my land. Hoani says that they
only consented subjected to the general consent of the tribe. Then let me tell you at once this tribe
willnot consent. The Ngatiraukawa may, and the Ngatiapa may, but the Eangitane never will. If
we sell this land, where shall the tribe look for support. We have sold the upper block to you, and
we want the lower one for our cultivations. It is true thatwe are not actuallycultivating it at present,
but it is leased to Pakehas, and we are living upon the rents. These rents have been very long
impounded. We canwaitno longer. We want money, andwe must have ourrents. Youperhaps think
that there will be fighting over the division of therents. Then let me make three proposals, either of
which you may accept. Either let the rent be fairly apportioned before it is drawn;or let the total
amount due from the various tenants be ascertained, and be then divided into three equal shares, one
for each tribe ; or let the whole of the rents be at oncepaid into your hands, to be distributedamong
the claimants in such manner as you may decide. lam not angry with my relative (Hoani Meihana.)
We will go on disputing in a friendly way with each other. If he should in the end prevail, then 1
shall take good care to getmy full share of thepurchase money. (Laughter.)

TeKoorosaid: Friend Dr. Featherston, 1 told you at Awahuri thai I shouldfollow you down, and
urge again at this meeting my claim to therent-money. lam opposed to the sale of the land, and shall
continue to opposeit tillyou consent to remove tlie restrictionwe complainof. Let us have the money and
spend it. After that we shall probably be in a humour to to talk about .selling the land to the Queen.
If you will not consent to the payment of all the rents, let us of Oroua at any rate have ours. Our
land is not in dispute—our title is perfectly clear. V\ by, then, should we be kept out of our money?
With regard to the proposed sale of the land ; if the tribe generally should ultimately consent to the
sale, I shall contend fora largereserve at Te Awahuri. All the best land is being sold to the Pakehas,
and we shall have none left for our own support. 1have heard a proposal made by some of the Natives
for the sale of the Oroua Reserve. To this I shall never consent.
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Hoani Meihana said: I also am opposed to the sale ofany land on the other side of Oroua. lam
willing that the whole of the disputed block should go, but our title to the other side of the Biver
(Oroua) is disputedby no one. AYe mustkeep this as a reserve for ourchildren, and for their children
after them. We must have it partitioned, and get Crown grants for it. My determination ,to soil is
confined to the disputed lands. All the tribes recognize our right to the land in this vicinity also
(Pukctotara). I shall therefore ask for a reserve hero.

Kerei Te Panau and several others addressed His Honor, chiefly with reference to the impounded
rents, and urged him to allow them to receive such of the payments as would not disturb the general
question as to title. ,

Dr. Featherstonreplied at considerable length. He necessarily went over much old ground, and
repeated a great deal of what he had said at othermeetings. He stated his willingness to allow the
rents to be paid, provided the whole of the people were agreed on the subject. He had not yet talked
with Ihakara, nor with the Ngatiapa. They had all heard John Mason's (Mc.ihana) opinion. "While
men like Mason urged him not to pay the rent, and warned him of the consequences, it would bo
manifestly wrongto yield the point except on very strong grounds. He could, therefore, give no final
answer at present, but would consult the other chiefs and their tribes and would let them know his
decision at the next generalnuvi ing. 'His Honor expressed his satisfaction at the manly and straight-
forward manner in which John Mason and Tapa had spoken, and stated his own firm conviction that
before very long the wholeof theNatives interested would consent to the proposed sale of the land to
the Crown, and would in this wav get rid of a very vexedand troublesomequestion. The sale of the
landwould benefit them in other ways, for it would soon have a largeEuropean population settled on
it, and fresh avenues, of trade wouldbe opened up to them. The presence of alarge number of friendly
Pakeha settlers in their midst, would he as great a source of protection to the loyal Natives as to the
European inhabitants on the coast. Hefelt surethat the sale of theblock would be mutually beneficial
to both Natives and Europeans. He had never sought to purchase it, but as it had been voluntarily
offered to him as the Queen's Commissioner, in the first place by the Ngatiapa, and afterwards by the
Ng&tiraukawa and liangitane,he intended to do as Hoani Meihana and Tapa had recommended,—'"to
hold it fast." He was aware that so long as he held it fast there was no danger ofany fighting. If he
should let it go, it was impossible to say how soon there might be strife and contention about the
ownership. Peeti had made very fair proposals about the payment of the rents, so as to prevent a
renewal of ill feeling ; but he was by no means sure that all concerned would agree to these proposals.
He was glad to find that a better feeling was beginning to manifest itself, and he felt convinced that
when the time should come for receiving and distributing the money, the tribes would meet each other
in a spirit of mutual forbearance. It was hardly accessary to repeat what he had so often said, that
he had made himself responsible for the rents, and that whatever might happen in the interim, they
need have no fear about the ultimate payment of all the arrears. He was willing to give the people
every opportunity of discussing the important question now before them, and it was for this object ho
had been attending the various meetings on the coast. He was quite willing to wait patiently till
every member of each tribe hadconsented to the terms of sale ; but as the people were beginning to
manifest impatience about the rents, his own decided opinion was, that the sooner the whole question
was settled, and price paid, the better for the district and all parties concerned in the matter. AVith
this view, Mr. Buller would remain in the district, and would attempt to arrange the details of the
purchase. He would himself visit the district again shortly, and would be prepared to meet them at
any place they might name. He was not anxious to press the negotiation forward with too much
haste, but was prepared to close finally with the sellers as soon as they were unanimously agreed.

His Honor's speech, which occupied more than an hour, was listened to attentively throughout.
Mr. Buller, E.M., then addressed the meeting, after which a discussion ensued which lasted

during therest of the day. It was resumed in the evening and continued to a late hour.
Superintendent's Office, Wellington, I. E. Feathebstox.

30th June, 18(5(3.

Enclosure 4 in No. 6.
Notes of a Meeting at Lower Manawatu, on the 7th and Bth December, 1865.

His Honor having arranged io hold a meeting with the Lower Manawatu Natives on the 7th
December, they assembled accordingly in the Court House ; but a disturbance arising shortly after the
meeting had opened, owing to the supply of grog at the neighbouring public-house, His Honor
immediately withdrew, and the people dispersed.

On the recommendation of several influential Natives of the district, the license of the house iv
question was shortly afterwards cancelled.

Ihakara (who had been present at the meeting) followed Dr. Feathcrston to the Aeeomodation
House, at the mouth of theriver, on the following day, and sought a further interview.

After listening to a detailed accountof what had passed at the various meetings, Ihakara expressed
himself strongly opposed to the payment of the rents, on the ground that it would re-open the whole
question at issue between the tribes. He argued, that if His Honor should concede this point, it would
be a violation of the compact mutually entered into, and that he would thenceforth consider himself
liberatedfrom his engagement to sell the landto the Crown. He declared his determinationto arrange
the terms as speedily as possible ; and stated that, so far as he had been able to ascertain, nearly all
the men of influence in the tribe were favorable to the immediate sale of the land. He thought it
probable, however, that some would hold out in their opposition to the sale, and that thus the final
arrangements might be considerably delayed.

At the close of this interview, Ihakarahanded over to Dr. Featherston the caricature previously
alluded to, andexpressed a hope that the authorof itwould be discovered and exposed.

Superintendent'sOffice, "Wellington, I. E. PEA.THEESTOK.
30th June, 1866.
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Enclosure 5 in No. 6.
Notes of a Meeting at Otaki, on 9th December, 1865.

On the 9th December, His Honor andparty proceeded to Otaki, where the Natives had assembled
to receive the purchase money for the islandof Mana. After the meeting the chiefs TamihanaTo
Rauparaha, Matene Te Whiwhi, and Horomona Toremi waited on the Superintendent, and declared
themselves decidedly against the payment of anyof the Bangitikei rent-money, pending the sale of the
block ; and they complained of the delay on the part of Ihakara and the other local chiefs in arranging
final terms. Letters were afterwards addressed to Dr. Featherston, embodying these views, and
suggesting a price for theblock under offer. Copies herewith.

Mr. Buller, 8.M., accompanied His Honor throughout this journey, interpreted all the speeches at
the various meetings, took an active part in the principal discussions, and had frequent personal
interviews with the leading chiefs of each tribe.

Prom Otaki Dr. Featherston proceeded to Wellington, while Mr. Buller returned to Manawatu
and Eangitikei to continue the negotiations.

Superintendent's Oflice, "Wellington, I. E. Feathehstoin'.
30th June, 1866.

Sub-Enclosure 1 to Enclosure 5 in No. 6.
Copy of a Letter from Tamihana Te Baitparaiia to His Honor I. E. Feathebsto*".

Otaki, Tihema 9, 1865.
E Hoa —

He kupu atu tenei na matouki akoe mo te whemia c pakangatia nei mo Eangitikei, ta matou
kupu tuturu tcnei ki a koe, ko taua whenua timata i Eangitikei awaputa noa mai ki Manawatuawa me
hoko katoa atu ki akoe ara kia Te Kuini, ma reira anake ka mutu ai te raruraru me te pakanga erangi
me hohoro tonu to homai i nga inoni ki nga Iwi c torukia wawe ai te oti.

He kupu ano teneiko nga moiii utu reti kia kaha to pupuri atu kei homai c nga Pakehakei waiho
hei take pakangama nga Iwi c toru.

Ta matou kupu atu teneiki akoome karanga c koe he huihui ma Ngatiraukawa ki Otaki nei,kia
rongo ai koe ki ta matou korero mo Eangitikei.

Ka mutu,
Na Tamihana Te Baupaeaha.

Kia TakutaPetatona, Hupiritene o Poneke.

[tbanslatiow.]
Fbiend,— Otaki, 9th December, 1865.

This is our word to you respecting the disputed land known as Eangitikei. This is
our deliberate message to you. The whole of the land lying between the Eangitikei Eiver and the
ManawatuEiver must be sold to you, that is to say—to the Queen. In this way alone can the trouble
and the quarrel be brought to an end.

But make haste andpay theprice (of the land) to the three tribes, in order that the matter maybe
speedily ended.

This is another word. Be resolute in holding back the payment for the leases, lest they be paid
by the Pakehas, and become a fresh cause of contention between the three tribes.

This is our messageto you—Convene a (general) meeting of the Ngatiraukawa tribe at Otaki, in
order that you may hear our words respecting Eangitikei. Ended.

To Dr. Featherston, Tamihasa te Battpaeaha.
Superintendent of "Wellington.

Sub-Enclosure 2 to Enclosure 5 in No. 6.
Copy of a Letter from Matese Te Whiwhi and Ueuboa Eipia to His Honor I. E. Featiierston.

Otaki, Tihema 9, 1865.
E Hoa,—

Hekupu tenei na manaki akoe, ko nga moni utu o nga reti oBangitikei kia mau tonu to
pupuru kaua o whakaputaia hohorotia c koe kei waiho ano hei take pakanga ma nga Iwi c toru.
Engari hei to ringa ano pupuru ai ta te mea kei te takoto marama tonu te ritenga mo aua reti kia tae
raanokite hokonga rawatangao te whenua hei reira ka homai c koe nga moni o nga reti, kia wehewhea
ki nga Iwi c toru ta te mea ma te hoko anake ki a Te Kuini ka takoto marama ai tera whenua a
Eangitikei putu noaki Manawatu ka mutu aihoki te raruraru, me whakarongo tonu koe ki tenei kupu
a maua, kei whakangawari kau koe i runga i te tohe a te tangata kotahi Iwi kotahi ranei engari kia
U tonu to pupuru.

Ka mutu, na o hoa aroha,
Na Matene Te "WniwHi.

Nia Tukuta Pctatone. \ Na Ueueoa Eipia x.

[teanslation.]
Feiend,— Otaki, 9th December, 1865.

This is our word to you. Be firm in holding the Eangitikei rent money. Don't be
in haste to get it paid, lest it should becomea cause of quarrel between the three tribes.

Let it remain in your hands, because the arrangementrespecting the (ultimatepayment of) rents
isperfectly clear.

When the absolute sale of the land takes place, then let the purchase money and the (arrears of)
rent be paid together, and be divided among the three tribes. Because it is only by selling to the

6
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Queen that the land between the Eangitikei and Manawatu Bivers can be set right (or made clear),
and the trouble respecting it brought to an end.

Let this word of ours have your attention. Don't yield, in deference to the wishesof one man
or of one tribe, but be resolute in holding (the rents). Ended.

Prom your friends,
Matenb te Wiiiwiii,

To Dr. Featherston. TJrueoa Eipia, x.

Sub-Enclosure 3 to Enclosure 5 in No. 6.
Copy of a Letter from Houomona Tobemi, and others, to His Honor I. E. rEATHEKSTON.

Kia Takvta Petitone,— Otaki, 2 Tihema, ISGS.
He kupu whakamahara atu ano tonei na matou ki akoe kei ki koe kei te wareware i a raatou

kaore ka hoatu tonu Eangitikei ki a koe, me timata atu i, Omarupapako, Koputara, Te Kariri,
Karaponia, Taikoria, Owao, Purakau, Te Kawau, Kokorangi, Te Iringa, Taumatapatiti, Pouatatua, Te
Koeko, Te Eakehou, Moewhakatakapu. Pukereretu, Makino, Karitake, Buahine, Xawatau.

Ka mutu tenei i konei ka karangatia ona utu kotahi tekau uiano. Ka timata mai i runga o
Eangitikei, Tawaroa, Parororangi, Pikitara, Te Eeureu, Te Pohue, Waitnna, Tahauti, Onepuchu,
Matahiwi, Otapatu, TeKaraka, Pukekokeke, Kakarikitaumutu, Eangataua, Mingiroa, Te Wakaauranga,
Puakohanga, Hikungarara, Papawharangi, Ohinepuhiawc, Ohakea, Pakapakatea, Otoka, To AVaipo-
kororo, Pikotuku, Totarataepa, Makohai, Poutu, Popoho, Kakanui, Te Awahou, Makomako, Te
Unuiunu, "Watiwhati, Pukekuku,Tawhirihoe. Ka mutu i konei, ka karaugatia ona utu kotahi tekau
mano, huia nga utu mo Eangitikci c rua tekau mano, ka mutu cnei korero i konei.

Engari ko nga wahi ma matou ko Ngatomokanga, Ko Te Puta, ka rohe i tetehi taha oTe
Rakehou i te rori tetelii wahi o matou kei te Kakahu o tc Rauraputanoa ki Mangamahoe, tetehi Ko
Takirihitau,kei Kahe te rolie mai. Ka mutu hei porotakaena mo matou, ko tenei purua nga reti kia
kotahi tonarironga me te whenua me nga reti heoti ano.

Naku Na Horomona Toremi, Na Ngarepo,
Na Paora Taurun, „ Tiemi Honoiti,
„ Arapata llauturu, „ Tame Honoiti,„ Paiura Taiporutn, „ Pape Honoiti,

~ Kerekeha Te Eei, „ Manahi Taurua,„ Te Kereama Taiporutu, „ Horopapera,„ Timiuha Taiporutu, „ Aporo Toka,„ To Miratana Te Wareki, „ Te Keepa Toka.
Ka mutu na te Eunanga Katoa.

Na Hohcpa Tamaihengia, Na Hohepa Nohorua,
„ Nopera Te Ngiha, „ Mareka Te Parinui,„ Eopata Hurumutu, „ Potulm Huhatahi,„ Te Karira Tuhaia, „ Wireti Te Au,„ Eawiri Te Eangihauku, ~ "Wiparata Te Tapu,
~ Ngahuka Tungia, „ Hohaia Pokaitara,„ Eene Tc Tahuarehe, „ Ncra Te Kanae,„ Horomona Nohorua, „ Te Waka Hauhau,„ Pumipi Pikiwera, „ Manupiri Nauatu,„ Hipirini Te Kotua, „ Peneta Teter„ Eenata Te Kotua, „ Minarapa Tata,„ Matenga Te Hiko, „ Hare Te Pane,„ Anatipa Te Nihinihi, ~ Wi Pata Tc Pane,„ Pene Te Telia, „ Eopa Te Pane .„ Potete Te Teke, „ Wi Hau Te Pane,„ Nera Peneta, „ Paramena Pu.„ Te Wan Kairangi,

Ka mutu na te Eunanga o Ngatitoa Katoa.

[translation.]
Otaki, 2nd December, 1865.

This is to remind you (of our agreement) lest you should think that we have forgotten. Nay,
we hand Eangitikci over to you absolutely. Commencing at Omarupapako (the boundary) comprises
Koputara, Te Kariri, Karaponia, Taikoria, Owao, Purakau, Te Kawau, Kokoraugi, Te Iringa, Taumata
Patiti, Ponatahia, Te Koeka, Te Eakehou, Moe Whakatapa, Pukereretu, Makino, Karitake, Euahine,
and Kawatau. This completes the (lower) portion. The price that has been named for this land is
ten thousand pounds.

Commencing again at the source of the Eangitikei River (the boundary) comprises Tawaroa,
Parororangi, Pikitara, Te Ecureu, Te Pohue, "Waituna Tahaute, Onepuehu, Matahiwi, Otapatu, Te
Karaka, Pukekokcke, Kakariki-taumutu, Eangataua, Mingiroa, Te Whakauranga, Papawnaarangi,
Ohineputuaure, Ohakea, Pakapakatea, Otaka, To Waipokororo, Pikotuku, Totarataepa, Makowhai,
Pouta, Popoho, Kakanui, Te Awahou, Makomako, Te Uniuni, Wluitiwhati, Pukekuku, aud Tawhirihoe,
where the boundary ends. The price that has been named for this portion is ten thousand pounds.

The whole payment for Eangitikei is to be twenty thousand pounds.
This concludes that matter. But the portions to be reserved i'or us are Ngatimokaiiga and Te

Puta, bounded on one side of the Eakehou by the road. Another portion is at Te Kakahu oto Eaura,
and thence to Mangainalioe. Anotherplace is Takirihitai, theboundary being at Te Kahe. These arc
all the reserves we want.
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We now ask you to keep the rents, in order that thepayment for the landand the rents may be
paid at one and the same time. Ended.

HoBOMOSA ToifEMT,
(And fifteen others), Ngatirsukawa ;

HOHEPA TaMATHENGIA,
To Dr. Feathcrston. (And thirty-one others of the Ngatiota tribe.)

Enclosure G in No. 6.
Notes of various Meetings held -with the several tribes engaged in the Eaugitikci land dispute

during March and April, ISOG.
During Dr. Featherston's absence with General Chute on the West Coast campaign, the following

letter was forwarded to him.
Tawhirihoe, Bangitikei,

Fbcens,— 20th January, 1566.
Salutations. Hearken. "We have arranged for a meeting at Ihakara's pa at Tawhirihoe, on

Thursday, the Ist d.iy of February next, in order to talk concerning Bangitikei. Hoani Meibana, Tapa
To Kooro; Noa (Eauhihi), Hori Te W'aharoa, Horomona, and all the chiefs willbe there to take part in
the discussion respecting Eangitikei. If we find that all the chiefs are of one mind, we shall then
convene a general meeting of the people, either at Eangitikei or Manawatu, and bring this work of ours
to a speedy close. When this general meeting takes place you must come up andpropose at once a
price for this land—Eangitikei. If we find that there is still division among the chiefs, you must leave
us and Mr. Buller and Ihakara, and Hoani (Mcihana), and Tapa, and Hori (Waharoa), to work
quietly among thepeople. Do not (in that case) be dark (or sad) about the delay. Let it be accord-
ing to your ownword at the first, " all the tribe must consent, great and small, chiefs and people, in
order that there maybe no trouble hereafter."

The meeting of chiefs (at Tawhirihoe) will decide as to the mode of sale—whether we are to unite
with the Ngatiapa in selling, or whether we are to act separately in this matter.

Here is another word of ours. Both of us are opposed to any reserves being made for our people;
the whole of the land must pass over to you. Eeserves would be a constant cause of contention
between the tribes, because the whole of the land from the Eangitikei River to the ManawatuEiver is
fighting ground (t. c. is in dispute)—there is no part of it clear.

Tour friend Ihakara returned this morningto Manawatu, or he would have put his nameto this
letter.

The account of our talk at Tawhirihoe, on Thursday, willbe given you by ourfriend Mr. Buller.
Ended. From your friends,

A pi:Kama Te Hvhuhurtt, x
Witness to signatureand to mark—W. Buller., R.M. Wnaxv PuXAPPKA.
To Dr. Featherston.

The meetingwhich had been fixed for Thursday, the Ist of February, did not however takeplace.
Ihakara, after consulting the other chiefs, was of opinion that the time had arrived fur a final adjust-
ment of the Eangitikei question, and proposed that instead of calling the principal men together at his
own pa, the chiefs and people of the several tribes interested, should bo invited to assemble in some
central place for a public discussion of the terms of sale. This was agreedto by the promoters of the
proposed Tawhirihoe meeting; and, in order to allow time for collecting food, the date of themeeting
was postponed to the 21st of March. Dr. Featherston concurred in this arrangement, andpromised
to attend the meeting. Te Awahou (in the Lower Manawatu) was the place originally selected for
this gathering, but at therequest of the Ngatiwhakatere, it was afterwards abandoned in favor of Te
Takapu, a settlement on the south bank of the ManawatuEiver, about twenty miles from its mouth.
The proposed alterationof theplace of meeting was communicated to Dr. Featherston, and received his
approval.

.On Dr. Feathcrston's arrival at Manawatu on the day previous to thatfor which the meetinghad
been fixed, he learnt that the people had not assembled, and that the gathering had been further post-
poned to the sth April. A. letter, announcing this change, had been forwarded to Mr. Buller, at
Wanganui, but had not reached Wellington in timeto prevent Dr. Foatherston's departure. Dr.
Featherston remained a few da s at Manawatu, aud proceeded thence to the Lower Eangitikei, where,
on the 27th March, he had a long interview with Ihakara. This chief stated emphatically his
determination to sell the disputed block, mentioned £21,000 as the price he was prepared to propose,
and warned Dr. Featherston that there would, at the commencement of the meeting, be strong
opposition from a section of his tribe. He also intimated that Aperahama Te Huruhuru, who was one
of the first to offer the landfor sale and who had signed the declaration of consent, had resolved on
withdrawingfrom his bargain. He mentioned the namesof other chiefs who were either known or
supposed to be opposed to the sale. ,

On the 28th of March, Dr. Featherston, accompanied by Mr. Buller,E.M., proceeded toTurakina.
On the following day His Honor held a meeting at the Ben NevisHotel with about fifty of theprincipal
Ngatiapa claimants. The meeting commenced about 9 a.m., am! lasted till about i p.m. The chief
speakers were Hunia te Hakeke, Aperahama Tipae, Hamuera Eaikokiriiia, EeupcnaKewetone, Eatana
Ngahina, and Hapurona Tohikura. There were two chiefs from Wanganui present (Tamita Puna and
Mete Kingi), who also took part in the discussion.

Dr. Featherston, having explained to the meeting the circumstances under which he had come up
from Wellington, expressed his regret that the Ngatiapa had declined to attend the proposed meeting
at Manawatu. He pointed out to them that unless the tribes would now consent to co-operate in a
final effort to settle this long-standing difficulty, there seemed very little prospect of anything being
accomplished at Te Takapu. He urged the Ngatiapa to reconsider their decision, and advised them to
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Ngatiawa tribe in attendance, but tlie Ngatiapa and Wanganui tribes were totally unrepresented.
The Ngatirankawa who were present comprised the following hapus or sub-divisions, vi/.., Ngatikau-
whata, Ngatiwehiwehi, Ngatipare, Tc Matewa, Ngatiparewahawaha, Ngatipikiahu, Ngatiwhakatere,
Ngatihuia, Ngatingarongo, and Ngatirakawau.

The natives had congregated when Dr. Featherston arrived, and were seated on the ground
grouped according to their tribes, in front of the great Eunanga House. On his arrival on the ground
His Honor was greetedwith much enthusiasm.

After complimentary speeches, and the giving away of about forty tons of food, which Ihakara
hadcollected for the occasion, the proceedings were formally commenced by thatchief with a short
complimentary speech suited to the occasion.

The next speaker was Apcrahama To Huruhuru, of the Ngatiraukawa tribe. He addressed him-
self immediately to the subject, for the discussion of which the tribes had assembled. He stated
thathe was one of the nine representative chiefs who had voluntarily offered the Eangitikei Block for
sale, and who had afterwards signed a declaration of consent to sell. He had since, however, felt
aggrievedby the persistent refusal of the Superintendent to allow the impounded rents to be paid, and
he was now prepared to ignore the transaction in which he had taken a part, and to recede from his
agreement to sell the land. He called upon the tribes to support him, and challenged the sellers to
prove that they had the sympathy of the majority of the people.

NepiaMaukiringutu (a son of the late Nepia Taratoa) then spoke in support of Apernhama, and
declared that he couldnever consent to a sale of the Eangitikei Block, admitting at the same time that
he had been one of the most urgent at the meeting at Eangitikei, in 1864, to compel the Superin-
tendent to accept the sale of the block, and to take the quarrel into his own hands.

Ihakara replied in a carefully prepared, well delivered, and very effective speech. He vindicated
himself from the charge of inconsistency in having first built pas and attempted to assert his claims
by force, and having afterwards offered to sell the land peaceably to the Crown. Ho expressed his
regret that the Ngatiapa had failed to attend the meeting, and repeated his oft expressed conviction
that nothing but a sale of the disputed land could bring about a peaceful settlementof the question.
The following is an abstract of the speech:—Ihakara commenced by reminding his tribe of the
meeting which took place at Manawatu many years ago, when the sale of the Lower Manawatu Block
was under discussion. He was opposed at that time by the late Ncpia Taratoa, and many of the
principal chiefs, but the land was ultimately sold. During the meeting to which he had referred he
proposed to sell the whole of the land between the purchased block and tike Eangitikei Eiver. This,
however, was negativedby the people, and theboundary was eventually fixed at Omarupapako. Had
the landbeen sold at that time there would havebeen no more trouble. The land had, however, been
leased to Pakehas, andrents had been paid, sometimes to one tribe, and sometimes to another. While
Nepia Taratoa lived there was no trouble,but after Nepia's death trouble arose between the tribes.
Pas were built by the Ngatiapa on the one side, and by the Ngatiraukawa on the other. He had
himselfbuilt three pas, Tawhinhoe, Eokianga, and Mokowhai. The Eangitaue became his allies. The
fighting was very nearwhen the Pakehas interfered, He had resolved tokeep possession of his land
or else to shed his blood upon it. Mr. Buller and Mr. Fox came to him and endeavoured to prevent
bloodshed, but he would not listen. Afterwards Dr. Featherston came to him. He was deaf for a
time,but he at length yielded, and fighting was thus prevented. After this the Ngatiapa offered the
land for sale. He refused to listen to their proposal, but offered to submit his case to arbitration.
The Ngatiapa would not consent to this. Thus matters stood for a long time. The fighting was
prevented, but the evil was notremoved. At length it appeared to him that nothing but a sale of the
land to the Queen would bring the trouble to an end. He consulted his brother chiefs and they all
consented. He then sent a letter to Dr. Featherston, offering the land for sale. Dr. Feathcrston
cameup to Manawatu,andtherewasa meeting at the Wharangi. Therewere eight chiefs present besides
himself. All were agreed that the landshouldbe sold to the Queen. That offer was formally made,
and was accepted by the Queen's Commissioner. He gave up to Dr. Featherston his club known as
Eangitikei, in tokenof the surrender of the land, and the club was still in Dr. Fcatherston's hands.
When the chiefs offered the land for sale the-\ said to Dr. Featherston that the final decision would
rest with the people ; hence the long delay. The chiefs hadbeen waiting for all the people to consent.
The people were now assembled, and if they would at once consent the matter would be soon settled.
If they would not consent the mattter would be delayed. But so long as Dr. Featherston should
retain possession of the club, Eangitikei would remain in his hands. He repeated that he had opposed
the proposal to sell when it came from the Ngatiapa. His offer to sell the land to Mr. McLean had
not been listened to by the tribe, and he had on that account resolved to retain Eangitikei. He would
have continued to oppose the sale of the land had he been able to discover any other way out of the
difficulty. There were only two ways open to him. One was to fight the Ngatiapa, and take forcible
possession of the soil; the other was to sell the land to the Queen, and to let the Ngatiapa sell also.

11is own plan was to fight, and either to take the land or to die upon it. His plan had been set aside.
His pas were now falling into decay. He did not want to rebuild them. His young men had laid
aside their guns and wereplanting potatoes. He did not want to call them back to the war dance.
He was determined now to take the other course, to sell the land. He wanted the Ngatiapa to unite
with him in the sale. They had been invited to the meeting, but they had not come. If the Ngatiapa
should not join with the Ngatiraukawa the Queen would have to make them a separate payment. 'Had
the titleto the block been clear he would probably have asked a million pounds for it! but as it was
fighting ground he would ask Dr. Featherston for a very small price, only £21,000. Horomona
had proposed that the price to be paid to the Ngatiraukawa should bo £20,000. Ho would add
another thousand to this, and ask for this payment on behalf of all the tribes concerned. This would
show that he was selling, not for the sake of the money, but to prevent fighting. If his share should
only be sixpence he would be satisfied. It was the price of peace. He thought more of the blood of
his young men than of the Queen's sold and silver. After describing the boundaries of the block,
Ihakara concluded by calling on Dr. Featherston to accept his offer andpay the money.

Speeches were then delivered by the following, viz.:—Wiriharai,Tohutohu, Taka;ia, Tv Kooro,
7
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Ecupena Te One, Horapapera Te Tara, IFaro Hemi Taharape, Heremaia Te Tihi, Paranihi Te Tau,
ilennre Hops, Te Beweti, Henare Te Herekau, Bawiri Te Wanui, Parakaia Te Pouepa, Te Kepa

riteri and Rota Tawhiri. ,\ll them speakers declared themselves more or less opposed to the sale.
Her several others admitted that they were only remote claimants, neverhaving resided on
the land nor exercised acts of ownership of any kind. There were many of them averse to the sale,
not on any particular ground, but because they were opposed generally to the further alienation of
Native lands.

Henare To Herekau urged that afurther attempt should be made to get the exemption clause in
the Native Lands Act repealed, and to have the question of title in this case investigated and
adjudicated on by the Native Land Court. In this proposal ho was supported by Parakaia Te Pouepa,
from Otaki.

Matene Tc Whiwhi made a short speech, in which he adverted to the difficulties of the Bangitdkei
land question, and urged thepeople to considerwell before taking any step in the matter. He blamed
Ihakara for havingreserved the question for the tribe, and said that if he had first arranged terms with
the Commissioner,and then sought the consent of the people, there would have been no trouble.
Instead of thai he had made an offer, subject to the approval of the people, and thepeople were now
divided in opinion. The chiefs assembled at "Wharangi ought to have sold the land absolutely to the
Queen's Commissioner, and the sale would have been valid. The mistake madeby the chiefs there
assembled was in making their consent subject to the assent: of thepeople.

Tamihana Te Bauparaha strongly advocated a sale of the wholeblock, and declared that if notsold
it wouldbe a constant source of quarrel and contention between the tribes. He enlarged upon the
merits of the block, and concluded by suggesting that they should ascertain its extent, and lot the
payment for different portions be regulatedby the quality, lie proposed as a fair price to demand 20s.
per acre for the best land, ss. per acre for the swampy and indifferent ground,and 2s. Gd. per acre for
the barren sand hills.

The meeting adjournedabout 3 p.m. /

I!/// April.—The discussion was resumed about 11a.m.
Ihakara renewed his demand for £21,000, and recited again the boundaries of the block

under offer.
Governor Hunia took objection to the boundaries specified by Ihakara, on the ground that the

Ngatikahunumight possibly claim the slopes of thehills, and gaveother boundaries which wouldexclude
any claim on the part of the Ngatikahunu.

The chiefs Wi Pukapuka, Noa Te Eauhihi, Te Rei Paehua, Hori Te Waharoa,and Tapa To Whata,
all spoke strongly in favor of the sale, and, in the early part of the discussion, supported Tamihana's
proposal of aprice per acre.

Horomona Toremi demanded £20.000. Aperahama Te Huruhuru, Parakaia Te Pouepa,Aperahama
Te Ruru, and Henare Te Herekau spoke in opposition.

HenereHopa, Bewiti and Apiata, who were on the side of the opposition on theprevious day,
expressed themselvesfavorable to the sale.

Tamihana Tc Bauparaha said he had abandoned his proposition as to an acreage payment, because
he had found that therewere insuperable difficulties in the way of such a plan. He then proposed
£20,000 as areasonable price for the whole block.

Paora Pohotiraha (of Waikawa) declared himself in favor of selling, and supported Tamihana Te
Bauparaha.

After some further discussion, "VVi Pukapuka proposed that the price should be £50,000; while
Noa Te Eauhihi named 640,000. Te Eei Paehua, Tapa Te Whata, and Hori Te Waharoa adopted the
latter proposal, and Wi Pukapuka ultimately agreed to the same.

Te Hoia (fromPoroutawhao) said that he was one of the remote claimants. He was opposed to all
land selling, but they did not think they couldprevent Ihakara selling the block if he was so disposed.

Matene Te, "Whiwhi refused to declare himself on either side. If sold, lie trusted the Natives
would get a good price for the land. If not sold, he hoped the people would takeimmediate steps to
get their claims individualized. He was anxious to see the whole matter fairly argued.

Epira Taithnu said that his people were opposed to land selling, but that in this particular case
the matterrested chiefly with Ihakara.

Neri Puratari (who was afterwards among the first to sign the memorandum of sale) made a
violent speech iv opposition.

"Wereta Te "Waha and Piripi Te Eangiatauhua (both of whom afterwards signed the agreement),
also spoke strongly against the proposed sale.

Pceti Te Aweawe, on behalf of the Eangitane and Muaupoko tribes, said that in the absence of the
Ngatiapa claimants, they would reservewhat they had to say for some future occasion.

Takerei Tc Nawe spoke in favor of the sale, and condemned the opposition offered by distant
claimants.

A number of other Ngatiraukawa Natives having addressed the meeting in favor of the sale,
Aperahama, Te Huruhuru, Nepia, Wiriharai, and Tohutohu spoke again on the side of the opposition.

Te Kooro (of Oroua) who hadpreviously been opposed, said that if lie could get some guarantee
that the division of the purchase money would be fair and equitable, he would at once withdraw all
opposition to the sale.

The wives of Takaua and Te Kooro (both of whom declare themselves large owners) having
differed as to some boundary, indulged in a fierce dispute with each other, refusing to be restrained.
It ended in their rushing forward into the open areaand calling uponDr. Featherston to take the
disputed land. This elicited a roar oflaughter, and the meeting immediately broke up.

7/h April.—The discussion was resumed at the usual hour, and continued witli great warmth
throughout the day, the principal speakers being the same as on previous days. The question had
been very fairly and patiently argued on both sides. Many who at the outset had declared against
the sale, were nowavowedly favorable to it, and it was evident that the spirit of opposition had been
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in a great measure crushed by the resolute determination of Ihakara and the other leading chiefs to
effect a sale of the disputed block.

Towards evening the discussion had virtually worn itself out, and Dr. Featherston was urgently
called upon by the whole meeting to declare himself, and to state plainly his intentions.

Ihakara made a final speech to the following effect:—Dr. Featherston, the land is yours. Give
me the payment. Here are the people, let them consent. Refuse not, lest therebe fighting. Let the
tribes have the money—Ngatiraukawa, Ngati&pa, Eangitane, all the tribes. Let my eyes only rest on
the money, let the people take it. I don't want the money, let the tribes take it all. * You saved the
lives of my children, the land is yours. The pas were built, and the people were preparing for war.
The ministers of the Gospel came, but we did not listen. The Magistrates came, but we did not listen.
You came—our Superintendent, and the friend of the Maoris—then the people listened. They then
turned from fighting to planting potatoes (i.e. industrial pursuits). " Listen not to the words of mv
relatives (meaningthe opposition). Pay the money and all the opposition will disappear. It was so
when the Awahou Block was sold. Rangitikeiis in your hands, hold it fast for ever and ever ! The
people arc now waiting for your reply."

Dr. Featherston replied briefly, and to the following effect: He stated that he had listened very
attentively fo all that had been said, and he expressed his satisfaction at the good humoured and
friendly feeling that had prevailed throughout. He said that he felt great difficulty as to the course
he should take,especially on one ground, and that was, the absence from this important discussion of
one of the tribes principally concerned in the dispute. He was aware that the Ngatiapa had refused
to respond to a thricerepeated invitation, and thechief who had convened the meeting might well feel
offended at this studied insult. But, looking to the important interests involved, and to their
expressed desirefor a final settlement of the whole question, he was about to make a proposal which
he trusted would meet with their approval. It was true that the Ngatiapa had not actedwell in dis-
regarding the invitation,but lie would remind Ihakara that it was not long since that the Ngatiapa
invited the Ngatiraukawa chiefs to a feast, and killed several bullocks for theirentertainment. The
Ngatiraukawa chiefs failed to attend on that occasion, and the Ngatiapa were probably nowresenting
that slight. He would thereforepropose, thatanother and a final effort should be made to bring them
to the meeting. His proposal was that a deputation of ten or twelve leading chiefs from the several
tribes present should accompany him in person to Rangitikei and exert their influence to bring the
Ngatiapa down. Ho felt sure that the absent tribe would not resist an appeal of this kind.

To Dr. Featherston's proposal the whole meetingreadily assented, and the several tribesproceeded
at once to nominate chiefs for this mission. At Dr. Featherston's particular request the anti-sellers
were fullyrepresented in the deputation. As a necessary preliminary, a friendly letter signed by
about sixty chiefs of the Ngatiraukawa, Raiigitanc, and Muaupoko tribes, was forwarded by special
messenger to Turakina (the temporaryhead-quarters of the Ngatiapa),requesting the tribe to assemble
at theirRangitikei Pa, on the following Tuesday, to meet the deputation.

The choice of the meeting fell on the following ten chiefs, viz. : Tamihana Te Rauparaha, Peeti
Te Aweawe, Heremia Te Tihi, Henare Hopa, Hohepa Tamaiheiigia, AVi Tamihana Te Neke, Winiata
Taiho, Noa Te Rauhihi, Te lleweti,and Te Rei Paehua.

On the morning of Monday, the 9th of April, Dr. Featherston, accompanied by Mr. Buller and
the deputation of chiefs, started for Rangitikei, promising to return to Te Takapu on the follow ing
"Wednesday. On arriving at Scott's accommodation house, Lower Bangitikei, the special messenger
who hadbeen despatched from Tc Takapu, on the previous Saturday, met them with an angry letter
from Hunia Te Hakeke, ordering the deputationback and refusing to collect his tribe for the purpose
named. Dr. Featherston was ofopinion that personal influence might succeed where the diplomacy of
the Native chiefs had failed, and Mr. Buller undertook to make the attempt. Taking with him
Peeti Te Aweawe, he proceeded the same evening to Turakina and thence to Wanganui. The whole
night was spent in negotiation, and Mr. Buller returned to the Lower Rangitikei on the following day,
accompanied by Hunia Te Hakeke, Tarnati Puna (from Wanganui), and the Ngatiapa tribe. Dr.
Featherston and the deputation of Maori chiefs were formally received in Hamuera's pa (Parewanui),
on the morning of the 11th, and a few hours later the whole party proceeded to the Awahou Pa, on the
south bank of the Rangitikei River, where Ratana Ngahina was lying ill, and thence to the Lower
Manawatu, where they arrived late in the evening. In order to keep faith with the meeting, Mr.
Buller and several of the chiefs proceeded the same night to Te Talcapu, arriving there at 3 a.m.

The Ngatiapa werereceived at Te Takapu with every demonstration of good feeling.
The proceedings of the 12thwere of an unimportant character, all the speeches being compli-

mentary to the Xgatiapa guests. The day was principally devoted to the cultivation ofgood feeling
between the hitherto estranged tribes and to theestablishment of mutual confidence.

Owing to Dr. Featherstone's unavoidable absence on the 13th, the meetiug adjourned at anearly
hour, with the general understanding that the discussion had well nigh exhausted itself, and that on
the morrow His Honor would reply.

lith April.—The utmost anxietywas manifestedfor a final and decisive reply, and at the appointed
time the Natives had assembled, and were waiting eagerly for Dr. Featherston's arrival.

Ihakara called upon Dr. Featherston to reply to the speeches that had been made. The latter
invited any of the chiefs present who might wish to address the meeting, before he closed the
proceeding's, to do so. The discussion was thereupon resumed. Ihakara and the Leading selling chiefs
were more earnest than before in pressing the sale of the block, while Hunia Te Hakeke openly
declared that if the meeting should break up without the sale having been effected, he would return at
once to pa-building, and. would decide the question of title by a trial of strength with the
Ngatiraukawa.

Parakaia again brought forward his scheme for a settlement of the question (by areference to the
Land Court) but the proposal was scouted by the Ngatiapa. The Bangitane and the Muaupoko were
unanimous also in opposing any proposed course but thatof an immediate Bale to the Crown; while
among the anti-sellers there appeared to be very few who regarded Parakaia's proposal with favor. It
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was tacitly admitted by AperaTiama Te Huruhuru and Nepia that although they were nowopposing the
sale they could not suggest any other way of settling their quarrel with the Ngatiapa.

About 3 p.m., Dr. Featherstpn rose and made the following speech, which was interpreted to
the meeting by Mr. Buller, E..M. After expressing his gratification at seeing, for the first time, all the
tribes engaged in the dispute before him, and at the friendly relations thah had been established.
betweenthem, he said that he felt confident, from the opinions that had been expressed, and from the
conciliatory spirit with which the discussion had been conducted, that the time had arrived for finally
closing the dispute. As longas the tribesrefused to meeteach other the negotiations would have been
indefinitelyprolonged. Ihakara and other speakers had given a truthful history of the dispute, and he
had little or nothing to add to it, but as there were many present whom he had not met at previous
meetings he was anxious that it should be made clear to all how it was that he first came as a mediator
between them—how it was that he came to be dragged into this long-standing quarrel. Not one of
them dared to assert that he had ever asked them to hand over either the quarrel or the land into his
hands. Not one of them dared deny that the three tribes had themselvesforced upon him, whether he
liked it or not,both the quarrel and*the land in dispute. On the contrary, Ihakara and others have
declared thathe had appeared amongst them only after allother mediators hadfailed in persuading them
to desist from appealing to arms for the settlement of the dispute. But he had not come up of his
own accord or uninvited. He came up at the request both of the tribes and of the Government.
Why had they invited him p Was it not because during a long period they had ever regarded him as
their friend—as one who had ever advocated what he believed to bo their true interests—as one in
whose justice and integrity they bad implicit faith ? Why had the Government urged him to undertake
such a 'difficult mission ? Simplybecause they knew that the tribes had confidence in him, and would
be more likely to be guided by his advice than by thatof any other person. He wouldnow call upon
them to say whetherby the steps he had takento stave off the inter-tribalwar, and to bring the quarrel
to an amicable terminationhe had done anything to forfeit their confidence. When he arrived amongst
them, in January, 1864, he found both parties in a state of angry irritation—hostile pas erected—the
red flag flying/nay the very day for the eommencemeni of the strife almost fixed,both parties
proclaiming thatrather than surrender their claims—rather than admit the slightest claim on the part
of their opponents, they would fight and die onthe land. He appealed to all present who were then at
Eangitikei whether in the ranks of the Ngatiapae, Ngatirauiawaa or Kangitanes, whether that was not
the true state of affairs. What did he do ? For many days he went backwardsand forwards between
the litigants, proposing various terms, urging them to come to some compromise. He had urged a
conference of the principal chiefs of each tribe—he had pressed arbitration upon them—he had urged
them to agree to a division of the land—but he had never uttered one word about selling the land to
the Queen. Nay, when the Ngatiapas insisted as the only possible solution of the difficulty, upon his
accepting the land, he refused to accept more than whatever interest they might be found to have ;
and, again, when the nine chiefs representing the Ngatiraukawas and the llangitanes, at W harangi,
formally handed the block to him, he only accepted the land subject to the claims of the Ngatiapas,
and to the consent of the people to the sale being obtained.

What he wished now clearly to ascertain was whether any one of the proposals he made in ISC4
to the tribes can be carried out,

It was then proposed to settle the question by arbitration. Arbitration means that each tribe
should appoint acertain number of arbitrators; that if the arbitrators cannot agree, they appoint a
third party to decide between them. This was a custom constantly adopted by Pakehas, and the
decision of the arbitratorsor umpire is accepted as a final settlement of the mattersreferred to them.
Now suppose that theyhad gone, or will to-day agree to go to arbitration, and that the award of the
arbitrators had been or willbe that the land in dispute belongs to the Ngatiraukawas andRangitanes,
would the Ngatiapas have acquiesced, or will they now acquiesce in that decision? or if the
arbitrators decided that the Ngatiapas were the sole owners of the land, will the other tribes assent to
give up their claims ? (Universal dissent). Unless the three tribes areprepared to pledge themselves
to abide by the awardof the arbitrators, arbitrationis useless, and can only embitter the dispute, and
leadto a recourse to arms.

Anotherproposal was that the three tribes should divide the land—but they objected to this that
they never could agree in what proportion the landshould be divided—whether each tribe should take
a third, or one tribe a half, and two tribes the other moiety ; that even if this difficulty could be got
over, who was to decide what portion of the land is to belong to this tribe, what portion to the other—
who was to decide whether one tribe should not be confined to the sandhills, another tribe to the good
land—whether one tribe should not have all the land for which, according to oneproposal, he had been
called upon to pay two shillings an acre, another tribe all the five shilling land, and the third all the
land they were asking £1 an acre for. Can these difficulties, which were pointed out in January,
1564, be now overcome?—is a division of the landnow practicable? (Kahore, kahore).

Another proposal hadbeen made during the discussion by Parakaia and others, that they should
take the lands into the NativeLands Court, and have the title of the three tribes claiming an interest
in it investigated by that Court. But Parakaia had omitted to tell them many things connected with
that Court. He had not told them that all the tribes must consent to take the land into the Court—
that each tribe must employ surveyors to mark out the boundaries of the landit claimed : that the
tribe must be prepared to accept the decisionof the Court as final. Were they prepared to comply
with any one of these conditions ? Would theyall consent to go into the Court ? (No, no.) Would
anyone of them dare to send surveyors on the land, every inch of which they had declared to bo in
dispute, to be " fighting-ground." Would theyagreeto abide by the decision of- theCourt ? (Enough,
enough).

He had gone through the proposals for the purpose of ascertaining whether one of them was
practicable. Let the tribes say with an united voice that they agree to any one of them—that they
will go to arbitration—let them say that theywill dividethe land—let them say that they will submit
their claims to the decision of Judge Parakaia, and he would declare his concurrence in it.

He now gathered that the six tribes assembled before him were all but unanimous in scouting
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everyone of these proposals, and were more than ever convinced that the only possible solution of the
dispute was, to use their own words, an absolute sale of the wholeof the land in dispute to the Crown,
and after having for many days patiently heard all they had to, say, he had no hesitation in expressing
his entire concurrence in that conviction.

During the whole time the discussions had lasted he had refused so take any part in them, or to
answer a single question, or to give the slightest inkling of his intention. They had declared that they
had said all they had to say, and nowformally called upon him to declare, whether or not, as the only
means of preventing bloodshed, he was prepared to accept the block and complete its purchase. He
know the responsibility which his decisive answer would entail upon him, but he had not the slightest
hesitation in giving it. Matene Te Whiwhi, in one of his speeches, said that the chiefs when they
handed overthe block to him at Wharangi, in October, 1864, committed a gravemistake in not then
and thereconcluding the sale without reference to the opinion of the tribes—that had the chiefs
adopted that course, their people must have acquiesced, and there would have been an end of the
matter. He (Dr. Featherston) repeated what he had then and often since said, thathe would purchase
no landwithout the consent of the people. But what did he mean by the consent of the people or
tribe ? He did not mean that the opposition of one man (not a principal chief) should prevent a
whole tribe selling their land. Neither did he mean that a small section of onetribe should be allowed
to forbid some six or seventribes disposing of a block which they were anxious to sell. However
much lie might insist upon having the consent of the tribe, of all the real and principal claimants, he
would be no party to such a manifest injustice as would be implied by one or two men prbbably
possessing little or no interest in the land, forbidding the tribe selling it, or in a small sectionof one
tribe opposing the wishes of some half-dozen tribes, especially when thecarrying out of the decision of
the majority was the only means of avoiding an inter-tribal war.

The question then that arose in his mind was whether there was such a consent of the tribes
assembledbefore him to the sale as would justifyhim in at once declaring his acceptance of their offer.
He had hitherto in all the purchases he had made studiously avoided buying a disputed block, and
certainly would not do so now. None of thepurchases he had made had ever been impugned; they
had allbeen open and above board. Some Natives had undoubtedly complained, not of the validity of
the purchase, but that they had notreceived their fair share of the purchase money. He never had
himself distributed the purchase money, and never would. He had always handed over the purchase
money to chiefs nominated by the sellers, to be by them distributed; and such would ever be the
course pursued by him. The tribesmustholdnot him but the chiefs appointed to receive and distribute
the purchase moneyresponsible for its equitable apportionment. Once the money was placed by him
in the hands of the nominated chiefs, his responsibility ceased. But the question is, whether he had
such a consent to the sale as would justifyhim in accepting the block. He would therefore call upon
every one of the tribes to declarepublicly before this meeting by their chiefs whether or not the tribes
consented to the sale.

He would call upon the several tribes to give their answer by the chiefs. He called upon the
Wanganui tribe to say whetheror notthey wereagreed to the sale. Tamati Puna at once said, "We
are unanimous ; all have consented." Dr. Featherston then called upon the Ngatiapa to declare what
their decision was. Grovcrnor Hunia on the part of the tribe said, " Youknow our decision; we all
insist upon the sale." "What say the Muaupoko tribe? Hoani Te Puihi replied on behalf of the tribe,
"We are all unanimous in favor of the sale." What is the answer of the Ngatitoa to this question?
and he called upon Matene Te Whiwhi, Tamihana Te Eauparaha, and Hohepa, distinctly and severally
toreply on behalf of the tribe theyrepresented. The three chiefs, one after the other, declared that
the tribe were unanimous. What said the Eangitane? Peeti Te Aweawe replied, "We also are
unanimous; all have consented." Lastly, he would call upon the Ngatiraukawa who he knew were
divided in their opinions. Ihakara expressed his regret that they were not like all the other tribes
unanimous in favour of the sale, but the large majority of them were so determinedto sell, especially
all the principal claimants, thathe insisted upon the purchase being completed. Knowing that those
who wereat present holding out would soon become consenting parties, he never would listen to any
other mode of adjusting the dispute. Dr. Featherston then said thathis course was clear. Five of the
six tribes were unanimous in their determination to sell, and of the Ngatiraukawa only a small section
opposed the sale. Of that section the twoprincipal chiefs, Nepia Taratoa and Aperahama Te Huru,
had some time since given their consent, and had repeatedly protested against the delay that had
occurred in bringing the transaction to a close. Great chiefs like them were not in the habit of
repudiating engagementsentered into in theface of the whole tribe. He was certain, therefore, that
the present opposition would notbe persisted in. Of the other opponents many had already told him
that they would abide by the decision of the majority, and would sign the deed of purchase. He felt,
therefore, so confident that the deedwould ultimately be executed by all the real claimants, that he had
no difficulty in publicly announcinghis acceptance of the block, and in congratulating them upon this
long standing feud being thus amicably settled and finallyadjusted. [This announcementwasreceived
with great applause, not afew of the opponents exclaiming, " Eangitikei is fairly sold, is for ever gone
from us."] Dr. Featherston then reminded them that there were other questions to settle, viz., the
price, in what proportion the purchase money was to be divided, and what chiefs were to distribute the
money. TJhe two latter might be left till the deed was signed, but the price must be fixed before the
meeting broke up. Several amounts had been mentioned, some exorbitant, others not unreasonable.
Let the tribes leave this matter in the hands of their chiefs, and they would find him prepared to meet
them in a liberal spirit. This was ultimately fixed at £25,000.

On the following Monday morning, 10th April, a formal announcementwas made of the terms on
which the sale had been concluded. A memorandum of agreementaffirming the sale and describing
the boundaries of the land to be ceded was then prepared, and was afterwards signed by upwards of
two hundred of the principal claimants. The majority of the chiefs present then urged that an instal-
ment of the purchase money should be at once paid; but as Hunia and a few others objected, Dr.
Featherston refused to pay a single farthing without the consent ofall, and until the deed of purchase
was executed.

8
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Shortly after the conclusion of the proceedings at Takapu, a small party of the claimants pro-
ceeded to Wellington, to record their protest against the sale. On the return of these Natives to
Otaki, they had an interview with Mr. Buller and three Wanganui chiefs. A report was made to Dr.
Featherston of what passed at this interview, and a translation thereof appended.

The deed of purchase has been prepared with due care, and is nowbeing executed in the district
by the several tribes claiming the land. The deed will be signed by over a thousand Natives, and on
its completion the purchase money will be handed over to certain chiefs, as in the case of the Upper
Manawatu and other purchases, to bo nominated by a general meeting of the tribes at Parewanui
(Eangitikei), of which sufficient notice will be given. The chiefs will divide and distribute the money
in such manner as may be agreed on among the tribes sharing it; and it is not anticipated that any
difficulty will arise.

Superintendent's Office, I. E. Featuerston.
Wellington, 30th June, 186G.

Sub-Enclosure to Enclosure 6 in No. G.
Copy of a Letter from Tamati Puna and others to His Honor I. E. Featiierstox.

Xi a Takttta Petetone (Huperetene),— Poneke, 17 Mci, ISGG.
E Hoa. Kia rongo mai koe ko nga korero tenei otomatou taenga inai ki Otaki, otc matou

kitenga i a Parakaia ma, i kite matou i te hunga i hoki mai i Poneke, i tv ta matoukorero mo
Eangitikei i reira.

Ko nga korero tenei a Tamati Puna c Hoa ma Aperahama c Nepia Taratoa, Wiriharai, c Pia
Parakaia me wakakotahi ta tatou mahi i teneirangi me tuhituhi o koutou ingoaki te Pukapuka tuku o
Eangitikei kati te pupuri, ka ki mai ratou c pai ana.

Kua tae matouki Poneke me a matou korero pupuri, ka ki atu a Tamati me haere ano etahi o
koiitou, hei Hoa mo matouki Poneke, hei whakarongo i to matoukorero, ka ki mai ratoukaore matou
c tae atu, engari haere koutou kawea ta koutou korero ki a Te Kawana ki Te Eunanga oPoneke.

Xi te oti inai i runga i takoutou c pai ana. Ka via c Tamati kite riromai i amatou ngamonika pehea
koutou, ka whakararuraru ranei koutou kaki mairatou kaore o a ratou whakaaropena, ka via ano c Tamati
ka mautonupea ta koutou pupuri i runga ite mahi kua oti. Ka ki mai ratou kite otiki ta koutou c
pai ana ma tatou tahi nga moni. Ko te kupu a Parakaia kia kawea atu ki Poneke whakawai nana
anake tanakorero na Parakaia anake te korero ipakeke kaore matou i whakaaro ki taua tangatakaore
hoki he tikanga i a ia,ko Aperahamama ta matou i whakaaro ai ko Nepiahoki ko Te tama a Taratoa
i whakaae mai a Nepia kia matou i te kinga atu a Tamati kia tuhia tona ingoa ka ki mai ia hei
Eangitikei tuhituhi ai.

Ko tenei kia rongo mai koe c Te Petatonekua oti rawa inaianei te korero tuku mo Eangitikei.
Kia tere to mahi kia hohoro ai nga moni te takoto. Ka mutu.

Na Tamati Puna,„ Aperaniko Bangiliikitia,
~ Wirihana Puna.

(Na nga Iwi o Whanganui matou i tuku mai ki Poneke.)

[translation.]
To De. Featiierston (Superintendent),— Wellington, 17th May, 1866.

Friend, listen. This is an account of our visit to Otaki, and of our interview with Parakaia
and party. We saw them after their return from Wellington. We had an interview with them
respecting Eangitikei. These were Tamati Puna's words : " Friends, Aperahama, Nepia, Taratoa,
Wiriharai,Epiha, and Parakaia, let us be united in our work to-day. Let your names be written in
the paper [Memorandum of Agreement] consenting to the sale of Eangitikei. Let the opposition
cease."

They replied :"It is well. We have been to Wellington with our words of protest." Tamati
Puna then said : " Let some of your numberaccompany us to Wellington, in order thatyou may hear
our words." They replied : "We shall not go ; but go you and take your w-ords to the Governor and
to the Council at Wellington. If it should be settled according to your pleasure, it is well." Tamati
then asked: "If we should receive the money, how will you act then ? Will you cause trouble in this
our joint work ? " They replied that they had no thought of that kind. Tamati again asked: " Will
you persist in your opposition when the matter is settled ?" They replied: "If it be settled in your
way, it is well: wewill share the money together."

The word of Parakaia (Te Pouepa) about taking the matter to Wellington and having it
investigated there was only a proposal of his own. The only man who spoke hard words was
Parakaia ; but we gave no thought to him, because the matter does not rest with him. We rather
gave thought to Aperahama and party—also to Nepia, the son of Taratoa. Nepia consented when
Tamati asked him to sign his name. He said that he would sign at (i. c. on his return to) Eangitikei.

Now, then, listen, Dr. Featherston. The consent to sell Eangitikei is now fully agreed to.
Therefore make haste with your work, in order that the money maybe paid quickly. Ended.

Tamati Puna, x
Aperaniko Eangihikitea,
Wirihana Puna.

(The deputation sent by the Wanganui tribes to Wellington.)

Ko. 7.
Copy of a Letter from Te Kooeo Te Oxe and others to His Excellency the Governor.

E hoa c Kawaxa Kerei,— Puketotara," 13 Hune, 18G6.
Tena koe ! He tuhi atu tenei na matou kia mohiokoe ki o matouwhakaaro mo te whenua c

SeeSub-Enclo-
sure.
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hokona nei c Hoani Meihana raua ko Tapa te "WTiata kei te tahaki Oroua o Rangitikei, kaore matou
c pai nga Rangatira me te iwi katoa kia hokona tauawahi, hei wahi tuturu teneimo inatou.

Ka timata te rohe i Whitirea wahi o Manawatu,ka ahu atukite moana, a rere atu i Whitirca ki
te Atatuhi, rere atu ki Otupere ka whati i reira te rohe, ka tae ki Kaikokopu, rere atu Kakahuara,
rere atu Omanuka, rere atu Puketotara, rere atu Te Kawau, Totarataepa, Kopuapokororo, Te Puta,
Whakamoetakapu, Paeroa, Papauku. Ka whati i reira, ka rere atu kite Umutoi wahi o Oroua, haere
mai i roto o Oroua a Te Awahuri, rere tonu mai ano i roto o Oroua a Puketotara, a ka kati ano ki
Whitirea. Ko matou ngakai pupuri o tenei wahi, ara o te taha ki Oroua, ki Manawatu. Tera ano
etahi tangata kei te tahaki Eangitikei c pupuri ana, kua tae atu pea ratou kia koe, kite whakaatu i
o ratou whakaaro, me o ratou ingoa. Heoi ka kite iho koe ito matou whakaaro mau o tuku atu ki
te Runangakiakite hoki ratou.

Heoi a matou kupu kia koe.
Na matouna nga tangata o Ngatikauwhata, o Ngatiwehiwehi.

Na Te Kooro Te One, Na Eruera Tahitangata,„ Mukakai, „ Poihipi Te Motuiti,„ Reihana Te Piki, „ Hapurona Rongorahi,„ Reupena Te One, „ Aterea Te Whena,„ Te Horo, „ Hoani Te Puke,
„ Te Kipihana Te Wewero, . Na te iwi katoa.

Tenei te ahua o te whenua hei titiro iho ma koutou.

[translation.]
0 Friend Goveenor G-eet,— Puketotara, Manawatu, 13th June, 1866.

Salutations to you ! This is a writing to you from us, so that you may know our thoughts
respecting the land which is being sold by Hoani Meihana and Tapa Te Whata. It is situated
between Rangitikei and Oroua. We, the chiefs, and all the people areaverse to the sale of that land.
This is to be a lasting possession for us. The boundary commences at Whiterea, in the region of
Manawatu, thence toward the sea by wayof Te Atatuhi to Otupore ; theboundary turns off there,and
goestoKaikokopu, thence to Kakukuera, Oinanuka, Puketotara, Te Kawau, Totarataepa,Kopuapokoro
Te Puta, Whakamoetakapu, Paeroa, Papauku ; there it strikes off, and goesto Umutoi on the Oroua,
Te Awahuri, thencefollowing the courseof the Oroua to Puketotara, meeting the formed boundary at
Whitirea. We are the proprietors of this tract, that is to say, of that portion of the block towards
Oroua and Manawatu. There are also some persons dwelling on the side towards Rangitikei, who are
holding on to it. Perhaps they have been to you to explain their views, and to let you know who they
are ; so therefore, when you have seenour thoughts, do you send them on to the Runanga, so that
they may also see.

That is all we have to say to you. From the men of
Ngatikauwhata, Kipihana Te AVewero,
Ngatiwehiwehi, Eruera Tahitangata,
TeKooro Te One, Poihipi Te Motuiti,
Mukakai, Hapurona Rongorahi,
Reihana Te Piki, AtereaTe Whena,
Reupena To One, Hoani Te Puhe, and the whole
Te Horo, people.

Enclosed is a sketch map of the piece of land in question for you to look at.

No. 8.
Copy of a Letter from Te Kooeo Te One and others to His Excellency the Governor.

E Pa c Te Kawana Kerei,— . Puketotara, 13 Hurae, 18G6.
Tena koe ! Kua tae mai aTe Puraki Puketotara nei, c mea ana ia, kia tuhituhia o matou

ingoakite pukapuka hoko o Rangitikei, o Oroua, heoikaore matou i whnkaae atu, kahore hoki matou.i pai kia hokona to inatou wahi,kua tae atu na ta matou reta me te Taati kia koe i te 13 o nga (ra) o
Hune, 1866, he whakaaro tuturu tena no matou, ake tonu atu.

Heoi mauc tiaki ena reta, me te Taati ano hoki.
Heoti ano.

Na matau Na Ngatikauwhata, Na Ngatiwehiwehi.

' Na Te Kooro Te One, Na Te Erina Te One,
„ Mukakai, „ Ema Te Rangiotu,„ Reihana Te Piki, „ Aterea Te Whena,„ ReupenaTe One, „ Te Horo,„ Kipihana, „ Hoani te Puke,„ Epiha To Moanakino, „ Hori.„ Te Poihipi,

[translation.]
0 Father the Govebnoe,'— Puketotara, 13th July, 1866.

Salutations to you ! Mr. Buller has come to Puketotara here, and has desired us to sign our
namesto the document disposing of Rangitikei and Oroua, but we did not consent to do so, for we are
not willing to sell our land. Our letter, and chart also, was sent to you on the 13th June, 1866. That
is our fixed determination for ever. Do you then take care of the letterand the chart also.

That is all from us.
Ngatikauwhata, Te Poihipi,

31THE MAXAWATU BLOCK.



A.—No. 4.

Ngatiwehiwehi, Erina Te One,
Te Kooro Te One, Ema Te Bangiotu,
Mukakai, Ateria Te Whena,
Eeihana Te Piki, Te Horo,
Eeupena Te One, Hoani Te Puke,
Te Kipihana, Hori.
Epiha Te Moanakino,

No. 9.
Copy of a Letter from the Hon. the Native Minister to His Honor I. E. Featiiebston.
(No. 362.) Native Secretary's Office,

Sir,— Wellington, 17th July, 1866.
In reply to your letter of 30th ultimo, enclosing notes of your proceedings in connection

with the Eangitikei-Manawatu Block, I have to express my regret that my absence from Wellington
until yesterday has prevented its reaching me at an earlier date.

I have not yet had time to read the notes with the attention they deserve,but I observe in the
concluding paragraph you state, " The deed will be signed by over a thousand Natives, and on its
completion the purchase money will be handed over to certain chiefs, as in the case of the Upper
Manawatu and other purchases, to be nominated by a general meeting of the tribes at Parewauui
(Eangitikei),of which sufficient notice will be given. The chiefs will divide and distribute the money
in such manner as may be agreed on among the tribes sharing it, and it is not anticipated that any
difficulty will arise." May I request that before you make any payment you will be so good as to
refer to the Hon. Colonel Haultain's letter of the 3rd May, 1806,enclosing, with other papers, an
extractfrom a memorandum in this office respecting outstanding land purchases, which memorandum
requires that, beyond the payment of such instalments as may be actually and immediately due, na
further action should be taken until areport, therein described, had been furnished to the Governor
through the Native Minister.

I lose no time in informingyou that I have not yet received, for the purpose of laying before His
Excellency, such areport as is required by the memorandum transmittedby the Hon. Colonel Haultaiu
for your guidance.

I have, &c,
His Honor I. E. Featherston, A. H. Eussell.

Land Purchase Commissioner.

No. 10.
Copy of a Letter from Eawiri Te Waniti and others to the Hon. the Native Minister.

El a Te Eatana, Minita o Noa Tangata Maori,— Otaki, 19Hurae, 1860.
Tena koe! E hoa kua rongo matou c haere mai ana ate Petatone kite kawe mai ite inoni

mo Eangitikei. E hoa kia rongo mai koe ko to matou whenua i Eangitikei kaore matou c pai ki a
poke kau mainga twi ke me nga tangatake ki tehoko, he tika koia ki apoke kau atu tetahi tangataki
runga kite whenua whareranei atetahi tangatahoki ai ? Kaore ra taua tangata c pai ma te tangata
ke he hoko. He tika koia ki ta te ture tenei tv mahi c mahia nei c te Petatone ratou ko ona hoa, c
tika ana koia ki ta koutou titiro te mahi ate Petatone? Xi ta matou c ho ana, kaore c tikaki ta te
ture. Ehe ana, me whakahe hoki c koutou. Kaua c tukua mai a te Petatone kia haeremaikite
whakararuraru haere i waenga i a tatou, engari mahia kite ritenga o te ture, whakawakia matou me te
Petatoneratou ko ona hoa hoko ito matou whenua. Whakaaetia mai tenei c koutou tukua atu te
whakawakangaki Poneke.

Na Eawiri Te Wanui,„ Te Kepa Kerikeri,„ Pita Pukeroa,„ Eota Tahiwi,„ Wiremu Wharewhiti.

[translation.]
To Coloxel ErssELL, Native Minister,— Otaki, 19th July, IS6G.

Salutations to you! O Friend, we have heard that Dr. Featherston is coming to bring the
moneyfor Eangitikei. O Friend, give need, as regards our land at Eangitikei, we are not willing
that other tribes and other men leap on to it and sell it. Is it right that a party not interested take
upon himself to sell land, or a house, belonging to some one else ? No, that person would not agree
to it,for another manto sell it, in that way. Is such doing in accordance with the law, that which Dr.
Featherston and his colleagues are doing ? Is that which Dr. Featherston is doing correct in your
estimation ? To our mind it is wrong; it is not according to law, it is wrong ;do you also condemn
it. Let not Dr. Featherston come here, and go on disturbingthe (relations which exist) between you
and us. But rather carry it out in accordance with the law. Let the Court decide between Dr.
Fcatherston and his friends, the sellers of our land onthe onepart, and us on the other part. That is aIL

Eawiri Te Wanui,
Kepa Kerikeri, x
Pita Pukeroa, x
Eota Tahiwi, x
Wiremu Wharewhiti.
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No. 11.
Copy of a Letter from Mr. BoLLBSTOM' to Major Edwards, E.M.

(580.) Native Secretary's Office,
Sic,— Wellington, 20th July, 1866.

From information which has beenreceived by the Government there is reason to believe that
the surveyors employed by Parakaia will be fired upon if they attempt to carry on the survey on the
Bangitikei-Manawatu Block, Colonel Eussell desires that you should takeinstant steps to inform them
accordingly, and if you find it necessary, to restrain them. lam to request you to report your own
opinion of this matter without delay.

I have, &c.,
W. EoiiIiESTOX,

The Eesident Magistrate, Otaki. Under Secretary.

No. 12.
Copy of a Letter from Major Edwards to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Sic,— Eesident Magistrate's Office, 20th July, 1866.
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of letter No. 580, relative to the probability of

the surveyors employed by Parakaia being fired upon.
I willat once act in accordancewith the instructions given me, but I may remark that I do not

think the information is correct.
I have, &c,

The Hon. the Native Minister, Wellington. J. T. Edwabds, E. M.

No. 13.
Copy of a Letter from the Hon. the Native Minister to His Honor I. E. Featherston.

(364.) Native Secretary's Office,
Sir,— Wellington, 20th July, 1866.

From information which has reached me this day it appears thatany attempt to survey, or in
any way to interferewith the Eangitikei-Manawatu Block, on the part of the Government, will lead
to armed resistance.

I have the honor to request that you will instruct all persons acting under your directions to
carefully abstain from any act of survey or occupation of which the Government has not been
previously informed, and to which it has not assented.

This is especially necessary at present, as any steps not authorized by Government might result
in war.

I have, &c,
His Honor I. E. Feathcrston. A. H. Eussell.

No. 14.
Copy of a Letter from His Honor I. E. Fe.vthehston to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Sib,— Superintendent's Office, Wellington, 23rd July, 1866.
I have the honor to acknowledgethe receipt of your letter of the 20th instant, m which you

state "that from information which has reached me this day, it appears thatany attempt to survey, or
in any way to interfere with the Eangitikei-Manawatu Block on the part of the Government, will lead
to armed resistance."

In reply I have simply to observe that in all my reports on the Manawatu dispute, I have
invariably recorded my opinion that any attempt to survey any portion of the block, whether by
Government or Natives, would inevitably lead to an inter-tribalwar. lam therefore not surprised to
learn that the tribes engaged in this dispute have threatenedarmed resistanceto the survey attempted
by Parakaia, and I would venture very respectfully to suggest the expediency of the Government
intimating to Parakaia that they will notpermit the survey unless he first obtain the consent of all
the tribes who have claims upon the block.

I have, &c,
I. E. Featiiehston,

The Hon. Colonel Eussell. Superintendent.

No. 15.
Copy of a Letter from Major Edwards, E.M., to the Hon. the Native Minister.

Sir,— Eesident Magistrate's Office, Otaki, 21st July, 1866.
I have the honor to inform you that Mr. Hughes passed through this place, en route for

Wellington, on Wednesday last, having completed the survey of Parakaia's land iv the Eangitikei-
Manawatu Block. My authority for this statement is a Mr. White, a surveyor, nowup here, who saw
Mr. Hughes, and spoke to him as hepassed throughOtaki. SeveralManawatu Natives have arrived hero
within the last day or two, but they know nothing of the report that the survey was to be stopped.
Thereport may have arisen from a speech said to have been made by Ihakara (who is apaid assessor)
of the Eangitane, to the effect that " it was very well for the surveyors to survey Parakaia's land, but
if they attempted to survey land outside his boundary they would be driven off."
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"When I spoke to Matene To Whiwhi about the report he laughed, and said, " some one has been
hoaxing the Government; I haveheard nothing about such a report, though I have seen some leading
Manawatu men who have just come down." It was not at all probable that the Ngatiraukawa would
interfere with a man employed by one of their own tribe, and the Ngatiapa certainly would not, as it
would probably involve them in a war with the former tribe. I will endeavour,on Tuesday next, when
at Manawatu, to discover the origin of thereport. I may add thathadany intention to interfere with
the survey existed, I should most certainly have heard of it. Wi Hapi continues quiet, and I think
has no intention of being otherwise; if he wants a fight he will go into someother part of the country,
as he has always said he did not wish to bring war on the places where his own tribe were dwelling.

1 have, &c,
The Hon. the Native Minister, "Wellington. J. T. Edwaeds, E.M.

No. 16.
Copy of a Letter from Noa te Whata to His Excellency the Govebxor.

E hoa c Te Kawana,— " Poneke, Hurae 20, 18GG.
He tuhituhi atu naku ki a koe—i tc rohc pupuru i toku whenua o Horowhenua, kei

Urihamamakei te tahaki tai,rere tonu puta noa atu, Mahoenui, ka pakaru ki roto kite Awaki Oh.au,
rere tonu ki Hatimanga, tutaki tonu kite rohe o te Kuini—te AVhangapuakorero.

Ko te taha tenei kite raki, kei Ohau te rohe o tetehi taha, rere tonu, Ngatokorua ka ekekite
Arapaipai, rere tonu atu ki runga kite maunga tutaki tonu kite rohe o te Kuini, ka mutu atu taku
kupu i konei mo te rohc o taku whenua.

E hoa c te Kawana mania c koe i te pukapuka, ka waiho kia takoto ana ia koe, tetehi kia homai
ki au he tiaki mo te ngaro ote mea ia koe, ko te mea iau c ora ana. Ka mutu.

Na to hoa aroha,
Na Noa Te Whata, Kei Horowhenua.

[XEANSLATION.]
0 Fbiekd the Goveenoe,— Wellington, 20th July, 186(5.

I write to you to define the boundaries to keep my land at Horowhenua, commencing at
TJrihamanaby the sea side, thence right on to Mahoenui down to the Ohau River along to Hatimanga,
joining the Queen's boundary Te Whangapuakorero ; this is the boundary on the north at Ohau,
Ngatokorua on to Te Arapaipai, thence right up to the mountain joining on to the Queen's boundary.
My wordto you about theboundary of my land, ceases.

O friend the Governor, do you have jt drawn out on paper and let it lay by you, and give me a
duplicate lest the one you keep be lost, so that the one I have be still in existence. That is all.

Your lovingfriend,
Noa te Whata, Horowhenua.

No. 17.
Copy of a Letter from Apeeahaha te HiEViiXKr and others to His Honor I. E. Feathebstox.
Xi a Te Petitone Huparitene,— Bangitikei, Hurac 2G, 1866.

E hoa, tenakoe. Kia rongo mai koe. Kua whakaac ahau ki to main hoko mo Eangitikei
inaianei. Ko tc take i whakaac ai ahau he kitenga noku itehe o te pupuri, katahi ano a Eangitikei
ka tino riro rawa atu ia koe, kaore rawa he tangata hei pupuri i Eangitikei, kei whakaaro koe kite
mahi a Parakaia kaore he ritenga, kua kite ahau i to he, kua tuhituhi ahau i taku ingoakite pukapuka
o Eangitikei i tencira, matou ano ko aku tamariki, i tuhia ano kite aroaro o Te Pura rauako tona
hoa pakeha, me nga Bangitira ano o Ngatiraukawa.

Hekupu ke tenci ki a koe, kua riro katoa nei to whenua ia koe, me aroha mai koe ki a matou ko
aku tamariki ki tetahi pilii whenua mo matou i Mingiroa, me homai c koe i runga i te Karauna
Karaati. Kia kore ai he raruraru i runga i taua wahi. Ka mutu.

Na tou hoa aroha,
Na APEii.urAMA Te Hubuhcbu, x

Naku i tuhituhi,
Na IIIAKABA TuKOIABU.

[teanslation".]
To De. Featiiebstox, Superintendent,— Eangitikei, 26th July, 1866.

Friend, salutations. Hearken. I have now agreedto your purchase of Eangitikei. I have
consented because I have seen the wrong of withholding (the land). Nowfor the first time Eangitikei
has fully and absolutely passed over to you. There is no one now to oppose the sale. Give no
thought to the workof Parakaia: it is of no account. I have seen the wrong. I have signed 7ny
name to the Eangitikei deed to-day, both I and my children. We signed in thepresence ofMr. Buller
and his pakeha companion (Mr. Freeth, interpreter,) and in thepresence of the Ngatiraukawa chiefs.

Here is another word. Now that the whole of the land has passed over to you, show your
affection for me and my children by giving us a piece of land at Mingiroa. Give it to us under a
Crown Grant, in order that there may be no trouble hereafterrespecting that piece. Ended.

From your friend,
From Apehaiiaiia Te Hvbuhveu, x

Written by me,
Ijiakaba Tuexmabtt.
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No. 20.
Copy of a Memorandum by Mr. Bulleb.

Memokaxdum.—
In a letter addressed by Parakaia To Ponepa and others to the Great Council (General

Assembly) dated 91 h May, 1868, I observe the following statement:—" Kua puritia maton eTe
Huparitene o Poneke kua tee maton ki tona whare, ko tana kupu ko te ingoa o Aperahaina
to Huruhuru, ko te ingoa o Nepiako taraua utu, na te Pura i tuhinoa, kaore taknringa i pakitepone."

Translation. —" We are detained in town by the Superintendent of "Wellington. We have been to
his house. His words had reference to the name of Aperahama Te Huruhuru and to the name of
Nepia. Their reply was, ' Mr. Buller wrote of his ownaccord; my hand did not touch the pen.' "

It has neverbeen asserted that Nepia Taratoa signed the document consenting to a sale of the
Rangitikei-Manawatu Block, but Aperahama Te Huruhuru certainly did. Being unable to write
he requested to have his name written, and made the usual mark, in the presence of severalwitnesses.
This occurred in September, 1864.

Aperahama Te Huruhuruafterwards met Dr. Featherston at the Manawatu Ferry House (October,
1864) and, in thepresence of myself and a number of Native chiefs, repeated his offer of sale, urging
the Superintendent to purchase the disputed block as the only means of settling the Eangitikei
quarrel.

At a later date (November, I8G5) Aperahama Te Huruhuru, in his speech at the Maramaihooa
meeting, intimated to Dr. Feathereton thathe had withdrawnfromhis agreement to sell, in consequence
of his Honor's refusal to relax the restrictions on thepayment of rent money.

More recently, however, jointly with the assessor, Wiremu Pukapuka, who shared his views, he
addressed a letterto Dr. Feallierston, distinctly repeating the offer of sale. In this letter he urges the
Commissioner to take the whole of the block, and to allow of no reserves being made, alleging that
" reserves" would be a" constant source, of contention between the tribes, because the whole of the
laud from the EangitikeiEiver to the Manawatu Itiver is fighting ground."

At the Takapu meeting in April last AperahamaTc Huruhuru again shifted his ground, and led
theopposition!

On examination of the certified copy of Parakaia's protest, furnished to me by the Native Office,
I observe that there is no mark opposite the supposed signature of Aperahama Te Huruhuru. As it is
known that he cannotwrite, it is fair to conclude that in this instance " his hand did not touch the
pen," and that Parakaia himself is responsible for the statement in question.

Wanganui, 4th July, 18GG. Waltkb Bvller, E.M.

No. 21.
Copy of a Mk-MOka.vdum by Mr. Bullee.

Memokandtm,—In continuationof the Memorandumrelative to Parakaia's protest, which I. had recently the
honor to forward to the Native Minister, I have now to state that Aperahama Te Huruhuru has this
day signed the Manawatu Deed of Cession,in the presence of a number of witnesses.

Bangitikei, 27th July, 1866. Walter Bullee, E.M.

No. 22.
Copy of a Letter from Neplv Taratoa and others to His Excellency the Goverxok.

Xi a Tk Kawana Kkbbi,— Henepuhiawe, Eangitikei, 31 Hurac, 186G.
E hoa, Tena koe, Ida rongo mai,ko nga Kai-whakawa i whakaturia c koe, ko tana main he

tito ki nga ta7-inga o nga rave whitu, ko Aperahama Te Huruhuru tc Kai-whakawa i tito ki a koe, ko
tanakorero, kaore ia i whakaac kite hoko i Eangitikei, i mua kua whakaae ia, i muri iho,kua kore,
kua hoki kite pupuri i te vvhenua, i naianei kua hoki anokite hoko i Eangitikei—he mahi kino rawa
tenei na nga Kai-whakawa i whakaturia nei c koe, ko Aperahama Te Huruhuru he tito kia koo, ki nga
rave whitu, engari me whakaarb iho c koe, ko matoukaore c pai kite hoko i Eangitikei.

Heoti ano,
Na Nepia Taratoa, Na Keremihana Wairaka,- „ Te Katene Ngawhanga, „ Pumipi Te Kaka,„ Hare Eeweti Eongorongo, „ Miratana Te Eangi.

~ Te Kereama Taiporutu,
Kia K&wana Kerei.

[tbaxslatiox.]
To Goverxor Grey, Henepuhiawe, Baugitikei, 31st July, IS6G.

Friend! Salutations ! Give heed. The assessors which you have appointed are continually
speaking falsely in the ears of the seven hundred. Aporahama Te Huruhuru is the assessor. He lied
to you. He said he waaopposed to the sale of Eangitikei; formerly he consented to it. Afterwards
he was opposed to the sale, and was for holding on to the land, and now he is again for selling
Eangitikei. This is very bad behaviour on the part of magistrates which have been appointed by you.
Aperahama To Huruhuru has lied to you and to the seven hundred, but do you take thought. We are
opposed to the sale of Eangitikei. That is all.

Nepia Taratoa,
Katene Ngawhanga.

To Governor Grey. [Here follow 5 other signatures.]
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